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CHAIRMAN’'S STATEMENT
FREBES S

To Our Fellow Shareholders

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”), I hereby
present the annual results of China Solar Energy Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Group”) for the financial year ended 31 March 2011.

OPERATING RESULTS

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group recorded a
turnover of HK$174,418,000 (2010: HK$460,117,000). The loss
attributable to owners of the Company was HK$197,104,000
(2010: HK$92,182,000).

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2011.

OUTLOOK

The photovoltaic (PV) industry is believed to be the fastest
growing sector of renewable energy industry. With China’s
emerging PV market, it is evident to see the focus on PV
applications. As costs decline, the PV industry is expected to
see greater market demands. During the period from 2005 to
2010, the driving force behind the growth of PV market is the
implementation of government policies including government
subsidies, offering enormous room for development. The PV
industry will embrace another important stage of development
in the coming decade. An important PV development will
be meeting the price of traditional electricity. Therefore, the
installed capacity of PV power generation will experience
significant growth. Estimated on the basis that PV power
generation will account for 5% of the global power generation by
2020, the annual increase of the installed PV power generation

capacity will be ten times of the existing installed capacity.

Under the implementation of the “Twelfth Five-Year Plan”
from the Chinese Government, our Group plans to install
10GW of installed PV capacity over the next 5 years. We
plan to accomplish this goal by adopting a business strategy of
technological improvement, industrial integration, marketing,
industry value-chain research, development and application. Our
Group has established a fundamental approach driven by market
needs and applying it with our state-of-the-art technologies and
effective management. Our Group focuses on the development of

thin film amorphous PV technology because of its ten advantages
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compared with crystalline silicon (mono-crystalline silicon
and multi-crystalline silicon): (1) the energy consumption of
this product is one eighth of that of crystalline silicon, and it is
environmentally friendly; (2) the loss coefficient in high ambient
temperature is only one tenth of that of crystalline silicon; (3)
higher performance in dim light; (4) relatively stable electric
current and voltage, generating better electricity; (5) longer
life cycle and easier production; (6) safe and reliable because it
eliminates hot spot focus; (7) the power output is not affected by
the yellowing acetic acid of PV modules; (8) free of short circuit;
able to operate without interruption; (9) low production cost;
insensitive to the rise of prices of materials; and (10) successful
application of Building Integrated PV systems (BIPV). The

prospect of thin film a-Si PV applications is very promising.

Our Group currently holds 68% shares of Terra Solar Global
Inc., ensuring that our Group secures the state-of-the-art
technologies. Our Group also holds 100% in both its subsidiaries,
Changzhou Stream Fund Solar Energy and Dali Stream Fund
Photoelectricity Energy, in Yunnan China, each of which
has a capacity of 240MW and 420MW under construction
respectively. The capacity of these two plants can be expected
to expand to 1,000MW respectively to achieve large-scale
production. Our Group was granted renewable energy subsidies
by the Chinese Government under the “Golden Sun” subsidy
program. The subsidies entails our Group to build a 2MW thin
film a-Si BIPV demo project in Dali, Yunnan as well as a 6MW

PV power station demo project in Dali, Yunnan.

After two years of research and development, our Group
has successfully developed the thin film PV agricultural
greenhouses. This marks a milestone in the thin film a-Si PV
industry. By integrating clean energy with modern day organic
farming system, thin film a-Si PV will trigger a revolution
in agriculture: solving the bottleneck for the need of land
in the development of PV and the bottleneck of reliance on
weather in modern agriculture. Our Group is in the process of
negotiating a number of thin film PV agricultural greenhouse
projects including 200 hectares/I00MW project in Jiangyin,
Jiangsu, 200 hectares/I0OMW project in Jinshan, Songjiang,
Shanghai, 66.67 hectares/30MW project in Mianyang, Sichuan
and 66.67 hectares/30MW project in Shilin, Yunnan. Given
the advantages of PV power generation, capitalising on the
advantages of agricultural farming and breeding to provide true
green living will greatly benefit the health of people and obtain

greater economic and social welfare. In the above thin film PV
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CHAIRMAN’'S STATEMENT
FREBES S

agricultural greenhouse projects under negotiation, our Group
has received strong support from local government and obtained
the approval from the National PV Senior Specialists Committee
and The New Rural Development Leadership Group under The
Ministry who had inspected the projects.

At the beginning of the new financial year, our Group has taken
a series of innovative measures. We will reinforce confidence in
our ability to achieve benefits for all shareholders, the Company
and society. Our Group will set specific targets and take
appropriate measures to achieve optimal results. We believe that
our Group is moving into a brighter future and achieving better

results year by year.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the newly elected Board, I would like to take
this opportunity to express my heartfelt appreciation to our
shareholders and business partners for their continued support
and confidence in our Group. I would also like to thank the
management team and all staff members for their devoted service
and loyalty. In addition, I would like to thank all directors
including retired directors for their valuable input and significant

contribution.

Yeung Ngo
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2011
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS
Photovoltaic Business

During the year under review, the Group disposed of capital
market activities and financing businesses resulting that the
Company successfully restructured its business nature mainly
in PV industry. As such, the company has recognized turnover
and loss from photovoltaic business of HK$174,418,000 (2010:
HK$460,117,000) and HK$92,079,000 (2010: HK$90,540,000).
The completion progress of the production lines for the year was
under expectation due to the restructuring of the group’s business
along with completing an acquisition transaction. Upon the
completion of acquiring 100% of Stream Fund High-Tech Group
Corporation Limited in April 2011, the Company has accelerated
its effort and progress in order to complete the remaining part of

the production lines by the end of this year.

Financing Business, Strategic Investments and
Capital Market Activities

For the year under review, with the disposal of the relevant
subsidiaries, the turnover from these segments was HK$nil and
the effect of the disposal of these segments were shown on note

14 to the financial statements.

OVERALL

The share placement agreement with Guangdong Rising
Nonferrous Metals Group Co. was unfortunately terminated.
As the process to complete the share placement agreement was
very lengthy, hence one of the conditions under the agreement
was not fulfilled on or before the Long Stop Date. The Board
considered that the termination of the agreement as the most
suitable resolution to the Company. We remain amicable for

future partnership and co-operation.

However, the Company is very pleased to have acquired 100%
of Stream Fund High-Tech Group Corporation Limited and
have appointed its new Chairman, the founder of Stream Fund
High-Tech Group Corporation Limited Mr Yeung Ngo. Under
his new leadership, the Company will focus and concentrate on
transforming its equipment manufacturing business into a fully
vertically-integrated PV module manufacturer and provider of
solar energy. Through our vertical integration, the Company
will strengthen its business strategies by maximizing profits and

reducing costs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

E1RE R KD

Gaining access to the ever growing PV market in China, Stream
Fund High-Tech Group Corporation Limited holds 100% in
both its subsidiaries, Changzhou Stream Fund Solar Energy and
Dali Stream Fund Photoelectricity Energy. Both subsidiaries will
operate in thin film a-Si PV module manufacturing facilities.
Our thin film a-Si PV modules will be supplied to our own power
generating projects and applications in Dali, Yunnan, China.
The Company’s main power generating projects consists of
Building Integrated Photovoltaic (BIPV) applications, PV power
stations and PV agricultural greenhouses. The Company was
granted renewable energy subsidies by the Chinese Government
under the “Golden Sun” subsidy program. The subsidies entails
the Company to build a 2MW thin film a-Si BIPV demo project
in Dali, Yunnan as well as a 6MW PV power station demo

project in Dali, Yunnan.

With tremendous growth and opportunities ahead for China

Solar Energy, it is our turning point to reap the fruits of our labor.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Results

For the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group recorded a
total turnover of HK$174,418,000 (2010: HK$460,117,000)
from continuing operations and loss attributable to owners
from continuing operations of HK$190,690,000 (2010:
HK$82,002,000). The increase in loss attributable to owners
from continuing operations was mainly due to the valuation of
the share options of HK$149,605,000 granted during the year.
If the value of the share options was taken out, the loss from
continuing operations was, in fact, reduced by HK$40,917,000.

Liquidity, Finance Resources and Funding

At 31 March 2011, the Group had net current asset of
HK$339,624,000 (2010: HK$304,718,000) and cash and cash
equivalents to HK$93,224,000 (2010: HK$265,168,000). The
decrease was mainly due to the payment to the subcontractor of

the production lines.
The liquidity ratio of the Group, represented by a ratio between

current assets over current liabilities, was 2,190.5% (2010:

1,130.6%) and it reflects adequacy of financial resources.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The indebtedness of the Group as at 31 March 2011 was HK$nil
(2010: HK$4,199,000, representing an unsecured amounts due to
shareholders of the Group).

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group was exposed to a very limited level of exchange risk

as the Group is mainly dealing with Hong Kong dollars.

Share Capital Structure

On 17 December 2009, the Company entered into the Placing
Agreement with Placing Agent to issue 1,131,600,000 listed
warrants (“the Warrants”) by way of private placing at the
issue price of HK$0.023 per warrant, each conferring the right
to subscribe for one new share at the initial exercise price of
HK$0.14 up to an aggregate amount of HK$158,424,000 at any
time during the period from 10 February 2010 to 9 February
2012. During the year, 2,000,000 Warrants had been exercised.

On 4 January 2011, the Company entered into the Subscription
Agreements with the Subscribers, pursuant to which the
Subscribers conditionally agreed to subscribe for and the
Company conditionally agreed to issue an aggregate of
1,420,000,000 Subscription Shares at a price of HK$0.114
per Subscription Share. On 4 March 2011, completion of the
Subscription for 720,000,000 new Shares took place and the
long stop date for the subscription for the remaining 700,000,000
shares was extended to 31 August 2011.

During the year, 1,371,000,000 share options had been granted

to employees and consultants, 600,000 share options had been
exercised and 305,000,000 had been lapsed.

Apart from the above, there was no change in the share capital

structure of the Company during the year under review.

Material Acquisition and Disposal of Subsidiaries

During the year under review, there was no material acquisition

or disposal of subsidiaries occurred.

Charges on Group’s Assets

As at 31 March 2011 and 2010, there was no charge on the

Group’s assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

E1RE R KD

Human Resources

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had 20 full time employees.

The Group remunerated its employees mainly based on the
individual’s performance and experience. Apart from the
basic remuneration, discretionary bonus and share option may
be granted to eligible employees by reference to the Group’s

performance as well as individual’s performance.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION
OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year under review, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any listed

securities of the Company.

CODE OF BEST PRACTICE

The Company had complied with the Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31
March 2011 except for the following deviations:

Code Provision A.4.1

Under the code provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should
be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. The
current independent non-executive directors of the Company
are not appointed for a specific term. However, all directors
(including executive and non-executive) of the Company are
subject to retirement by rotation at the annual general meeting

as specified in the bye-laws of the Company.

Code Provision E.1.2

Under the code provision E.1.2 the chairman of the board should
attend the annual general meeting. The Chairman of the Board,
Mr Henry J. Behnke III was unable to attend the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 6 September 2010 due to
personal reasons. However, an Executive Director, present at the
annual general meeting who then took the chair of that meeting

in accordance with the Bye-Laws of the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company had adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the directors. All Directors have confirmed,
following specific enquiry by the Company, that they had
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 March 2011.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company consisted of Mr Yin Tat
Man, Mr Choi Shek Chau, Mr Choy Tak Ho and Mr Chong
Chi Wah, the four independent non-executive Directors.
The primary duties of the audit committee are to review the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, and
the financial reporting process and internal control system of the
Group, including the review of and the approval of the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2011.

The audited consolidated financial statements has been approved

by the audit committee.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Company was established,
with specific terms of reference in compliance with the Code
of Corporate Governance Practices as set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules. The Committee is responsible for
making recommendations to the board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of directors and senior
management and to determine the specific remuneration

packages and conditions of employment for the directors.
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BioGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGEBEBRAGSERE

CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR

Mr YEUNG Ngo (“Mr Yeung”), aged 60, joined the Group
as Chairman and executive director on 28 March 2011. Mr
Yeung graduated from the Department of World Economics of
the Graduate School of Renmin University of China and has
over 30 years of experience in corporate management, product
development, financial management and marketing. He is
the chairman of Stream Fund High-Tech Group Corporation
Limited and Stream New Energy Cars Holdings Limited. He
has always been dedicated to the development of new energy
and green products, and has knowledge in the technology and
the industrial design of production lines of amorphous silicon
thin film solar products as well as the development of electric
vehicles, fuel cell vehicles and hydrogen vehicles. Mr Yeung is
one of the drafters of Chinese National Standard for Automobile
Air Conditioning Refrigerant Compressor (GB/T21360-2008)
and one of the patent owners of green air conditioning scroll
compressors. Stream New Energy Cars Holdings Limited is
among the first which uses green refrigerant in automotive air-

conditioning systems in China.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Pierre SELIGMAN (“Mr Seligman”), aged 45, joined the
Group as an executive director on 7 February 2005 and was
appointed as Managing Director in 2006. He holds a Bachelors
degree in French Literature and a textile degree in knitwear
from the University of Leeds in the United Kingdom. He has
more than 15 years of experience in local and overseas trading
business working as a senior executive. Mr Seligman is currently
an executive director of ViaGOLD Capital Limited, a company
listed on the Australian Stock Exchange.

Mr YANG Yuchun (“Mr Yang”), aged 33, joined the Group
as executive director on 28 March 2011. Mr Yang graduated
from the Department of International Finance of Southwestern
University of Finance and Economics and has over 10 years
of experience in financial management, cost accounting
and corporate management. He was the general manager of
Shanghai Zhunti Auto Sales & Service Co., Ltd. and the general
manager of Shanghai Super-Power Air-Condition Compressor
Manufacture Co., Ltd. In recent years, he devoted his career to
photovoltaic development and has become the general manager
of Changzhou Stream Solar Energy Co., Ltd and Dali Stream
Fund Photoelectricity Energy Co., Limited.
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BioGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTOR
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Ms JIN Yan (“Ms Jin”), aged 40, joined the Group as executive
director on 28 March 2011. Ms Jin graduated from the
Department of Accounting of Soochow University and has over
15 years of experience in corporate management and finance
accounting. She has been the chief financial officer of Stream
Fund High-Tech Group Corporation Limited, the general
manager of Jiangsu Omni-Machine Manufacturer Ltd. and
the general manager of Jiangsu Zhunxin Auto Air-Condition
System Co., Ltd. and has extensive cooperation with various
well-known multinational corporations such as General Electric,
Dow Corning, ITOCHU Corporation and Toshiba in the area
of silicone and Jiangsu Zhunxin Auto Air-Conditions System
Co., Ltd. is the first company in the Chinese automotive air-

conditioning industry to “go green”.

Mr CHAN Wai Kwong Peter (“Mr Chan”), aged 58, was
appointed as an executive director on 8 April 2002. He
graduated with a bachelor degree in Social Science (Economics)
from the University of Western Ontario, Canada in 1978.
Mr Chan has over 24 years of experience in marketing and
business development. Mr Chan is also an executive director of
Mobile Telecom Network (Holdings) Limited, an independent
nonexecutive director of China Golden Development Holdings
Limited and was formerly an independent non-executive director
of Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited, all of them are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr Chan was a
former member of the Amusement Game Centre Appeal Board,

The Government of “HKSAR”.

Mr ON Kien Quoc (“Mr On”), aged 50, joined the Group as an
executive director of the Company on 10 September 2007. Mr
On is a Certified Commercial Investment Member of the CCIM
Institute in the United States of America. Mr On has extensive
experience in the field of corporate strategy, marketing solutions
and business development and he is the business development
manager of Evergreen Equity Investment, LLC, an investment

consultancy company based in the United States of America.
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BioGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGEBEBRAGSERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr YIN Tat Man (“Mr Yin”), aged 51, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director, a member of the Company’s
audit committee and remuneration committee on 30 September
2004. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree from University
of Toronto in Canada. He is a professional business executive
with over 20 years of experience in the information technology
industry specializing in the field of project management, risk
management and channel management. Currently, Mr Yin is
an IT director of an international IT and system technology

company based in Shanghai.

Mr CHOI Shek Chau (“Mr Choi”), aged 54, was appointed as
an independent non-executive director, audit committee and
remuneration committee on 23 December 2008. Mr Choi was
the founder of Fang Zheng TV Production Company Limited
(Liaoning Province) (“Fang Zheng TV”) (& % & Jy IE & #l A
RIMEA BR 2 F]) and Bo Hai Group Company Limited (Liaoning
province) (“Bo Hai Group”) (3 %% 5 2 g 4 [ A R/ &), Mr
Choi studied Chinese literature & history from the University
of Macau. Mr Choi has extensive experience in China Trade. In
1990, Mr Choi established the Fang Zheng TV, and developed
successful business via setting up a joint venture with the
local TV production house in producing various arts prograMs
In 1993, his Hong Kong based company and the Liaoning
province established the Bo Hai Group to perform the real estate
investment and development projects. Mr Choi has earned over
15 years of solid business experience from such investment in real
estate in China. Mr Choi is a former independent non-executive
director of Opes Asia Development Limited, a company listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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Mr CHOY Tak Ho (“Mr Choy”), aged 82, was appointed as
an non-executive director, audit committee and remuneration
committee on 28 March 2011. Mr Choy is a member of the
9th National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultation Conference, the Executive Committee Member
of the 8th All China Federation of Industry and Commerce and
the Executive Committee Member of the Chinese Manufacture
Association of Hong Kong. He also served as a member of the
Selection Committee of the First Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region. He is the Honorary Life
Chairman of the Chinese General Chamber of Commerce H.K.,
the Charter President of Hong Kong and Overseas Chinese
Association of Commerce Limited and the Charter President of
Hong Kong Kwun Tong Industries and Commerce Association
Limited. Mr Choy holds the position as an independent
non-executive director of EVA Precision Industrial Holdings
Limited and Sino Golf Holdings Limited, the companies whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He
was also ex-independent non-executive directors of Multifield
International Holdings Limited and Oriental Explorer Holdings
Limited, the companies whose shares are listed on the Main

Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr CHONG Chi Wah (“Mr Chong”), aged 49, was appointed
as an non-executive director, audit committee and remuneration
committee on 28 March 2011. Mr Chong is a Fellow member of
The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants of the UK
(FCCA), Associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (HKICPA), Associate member of The
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators (ICSA),
Associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Companies
Secretaries (HKICS). Mr Chong has over 17 years experience in
accounting and finance. Mr Chong is currently an independent
non-executive director of Sijia Group Company Limited, a

company listed in Hong Kong.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr TSANG Wai Wa (“Mr Tsang”), aged 50, is the Company
Secretary of the Group, joined the Group in April 2005. Mr
Tsang holds a Bachelor degree in Finance and Accounting and
a Master degree in Business Administration. He is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has extensive experience in auditing,

accounting, company secretary and corporate finance experience.
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BioGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGEBEBRAGSERE

Mr Henry J. BEHNKE III (“Mr Behnke”), aged 51, joined the
Group in April 2005 and was appointed as Chairman and non-
executive director on 10 September 2007. He then resigned from
Chairman and non-executive director on 28 March 2011. Mr
Behnke is now the technical consultant of the group. Mr Behnke
is the leader in Terra Solar’s Kiss a-Si Platform (“KASIP”).
The KASIP combines the valuable intellectual property that
Terra Solar have built and accumulated for many years. Being
a 25 years veteran and the Chief Operating Officer of Terra
Solar Group, the subsidiary of China Solar Energy Holdings
Limited, Mr Behnke has participated in the development, testing
and installation of equipment used in the manufacturing of
amorphous silicon photovoltaic solar cells for over 25 years. He
supervised the installation of turnkey manufacturing facilities
on location in Port Jervis, NY, Bridgend, Wales (UK) and Lens,
France. His responsibilities with Terra Solar Group focused
on the management of installation operations for PV systems,
facility management for manufacturing and R&D process
development operations. His professional qualifications include
AIChE (American Institute of Chemical Engineers), ASAE (The
Society for Engineering in Agriculture, Food and Biological
Systems), ASTM (American Society for Testing and Materials),
and ISA (The Instrumentation, Systems and Automation
Society). He holds an Executive MBA from the Graduate School
of Management of Rutgers University in 1994, a Professional
Engineering License N]J Mechanical Engineering #32029 in
1986, and a BS Engineering from the College of Engineering of
Rutgers University in 1981.

Annual Report 2011 4F #

Henry J. BEHNKE I11%% 2 ([ BehnkeG 4 1) > 515% >
A EELAFEMAMARER - R R LA
AT HERAE R ERIRERATES - HE > %
W_F——4HE = +/\H§#E£fﬁ‘—f%#ﬁ fici
# o Behnkes2E B IRF £ A8 45 [ 2 H AT Y - Behnke
Je 4 By Terra SolarZ KissFE &b # 7 & ([KASIPJ) 2 4H
B o KASIPAS A Terra SolarZs 4F- 5 4% Ji& K Fs 2 T 15
ZEEMBME A EELERFEERARA
F) 2 Mt & 7> W Terra Solar® [H] 2 45 ¥ 44 > Behnke
SeE B A M RSB o i 2 B IR A
fiE e AR K B e 2 g R~ R R e e R R R
T AR o R B A A1 A M AR A T e
@iﬁﬁi’?fﬁ%m?‘ﬁ&%@ﬁﬂﬁﬁz% B w4
° Tﬁﬁ/‘Terra SolarfE H £ B & MR R & uxﬁ
o DL R R - ﬁh&’%%ﬂ&@ﬁfz
Ij% ﬁ?%ﬁ@TﬁAIChE B b 2 TR A %[&n
ASAE (J2 3¢ ~ ﬁﬁ%i%% T L 2 '@ * ASTM
(25 B b1 RL Gl B2 8 ) SRISA (35 B 8% 52 ) 2 B2k
A o ﬁﬁﬁ—hﬂﬁlﬁﬁi%?%ﬁﬁk%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ
TTELN B T8 B LB~ A — LN
2% TR $L FEN] Mechanical Engineering #32029 - ilfi
A — JUN—4E S5 e A T K2 TR BB 5 o
I%I%?—U_



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE MANAGEMENT
Chairman and Managing Director

The roles of the Chairman and the Managing Director are
segregated and assumed by two separate individuals who
have no relationship with each other to strike a balance
of power and authority so that the job responsibilities are

not concentrated on any one individual.

The Chairman of the Board is responsible for taking lead

of effective running of the Board.

The Managing Director is delegated with the authorities
to manage the Group’s business in all aspects effectively,
implement major strategies, make day-to day decision

and coordinate overall business operation.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board is responsible for the management of the
business and affairs of the Group with the objective
of enhancing shareholder value and prospects in the
annual and interim reports, and of other price-sensitive
announcements and other financial disclosures as
required under the Listing Rules, and reports to regulators
any information required to be disclosed pursuant to

statutory requirements.

Management is responsible for the day-to-day operations
of the Group under the leadership of the Managing
Director. The Managing Director, working with the other
executive directors and the executive management team
of each business division, is responsible for managing
the business of the Group, including implementation
of strategies adopted by the Board and assuming full
accountability to the Board for operations of the Group.
All executive directors have made full and active
contribution to the affairs of the Board and the Board

always acts in the best interests of the Group.
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REGULAR BOARD MEETINGS 3. EMERGGE
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The Board meets at least four times each year and has a
formal schedule of matters referred to it for consideration
and decision. Additional meetings may be convened as
and when necessary. Notice of at least fourteen days is
served for regular Board meetings and reasonable notice
is given for all other Board meetings. Directors are
consulted and provided with an opportunity to include
matters into the agenda for discussion at the Board
meetings. The Company Secretary assists the Chairman/
Managing Director in preparing the agenda for each
Board meeting and to ensure that applicable rules
and regulations regarding the meetings are observed.
The final agenda together with the Board papers are
distributed to the Directors at least three days before the

Board meetings.
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During the year, eighteen board meetings, three
remuneration committee meetings and two audit

committee meetings were held during the year ended 31
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March 2011.
Individual attendance of each of the directors is set out FERE AR BRI T
below:
Meetings attended/eligible to attend
CELRE Ve Vst 1AL Y
Board Audit Remuneration

meetings committee committee
Directors W HREEH® FRREGER VWZEFER
Executive directors H {7 FH
Mr Yeung Ngo i o S A N/AA i H N/AAN# N/AAN#
Mr Yang Yuchun A A 5E 2k N/AAN I i N/AAS 3 N/AAS I
Ms Jin Yan EMEL L N/AA 78 N/AA 78 N/AAR T8
Mr Pierre Seligman Pierre Seligman 7t 4= 18/18 N/AR 3 N/AR 7
Mr Chan Wai Kwong Bk 5t e A 17/18 N/AA 7 H 3/3
Mr On Kien Quoc On Kien Quocyt 4 16/18 N/AA 78 N/AA % ]
Non-executive director FHITHF
Henry J. Behnke III Henry J. Behnke I11J5 4 5/8 N/AT # N/AT #
Mr Yin Tat Man R 6/7 212 1/1
Mr Tam Kam Biu, William AR 8/9 2/2 23
Mr Choi Shek Chau M Sk 5/9 12 23
Mr Choy Tak Ho BRAEW] SE A N/AAS i H N/AKN 78 H N/ARN 78 H
Mr Chong Chi Wah AR N/AA ## N/AR 3 N/AAM 7 H
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Each Committee has its own defined scope of duties

and terms of reference. The Company Secretary shall

make available the terms of reference of the committees

to any shareholder upon receipt of a request in writing

from the shareholder. The members of a committee are

empowered to make decisions on matters within the

terms of reference of such committee. Copies of all signed

minutes of the committees are sent to Directors for their

record.

a.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises
four members, all of whom are independent
non-executive directors, namely, Mr Yin Tat
Man, Mr Choi Shek Chau, Mr Choy Tak Ho and
Mr Chong Chi Wah.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee
include review of the effectiveness of financial
reporting processes and internal control
systems of the Group, review of the Group’s
financial information and compliance,
marking recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and removal of external auditors and

assessing their independence and performance.

During the year, the works performed by Audit

Committee were mainly set out below:

- reviewed and approved the interim results
for the period ended 30 September 2010
and annual results for the ended 31 March
2011 of the Group.

- discussed with the management of the
Company over the fairness and adequate
accounting standards and policies of the
Group in the preparation of the interim

and annual financial statements.

- reviewed and approved the connected
transactions entered into by the Group

during the year.
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- reviewed and discussed with the external
auditors over the financial reporting of

the Company.

- reviewed, recommended and approved
the retirement and re-appointment of
external auditors.

- reviewed, recommended and approved

the remuneration of external auditors.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently
comprises five members, one executive director,
namely, Mr Chan Wai Kwong Peter and four
independent non-executive directors, namely, Mr
Yin Tat Man, Mr Choi Shek Chau, Mr Choy Tak
Ho and Mr Chong Chi Wah.

The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to make recommendations to
the Board on the Group’s policy and structure
for the overall remuneration of directors and
management, including the policy of granting of
share options to employees under the Company’s

share option scheme.

Nomination Committee

The Company has not established any nomination
committee and would not consider establishing
a nomination committee owing to the small size
of the Board. The appointment of a new director
is a collective decision of the Board, taking into
consideration the expertise, experience, integrity
and commitment of that appointee to the
relevant principal division, the Company and the

Group.

Every newly appointed Director will receive a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction of

the first occasion of his appointment.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’
ACKNOWLEDGMENT

Messrs Deloitte Touche Tohmastu, the auditors of the
Company, acknowledge their reporting responsibilities
in the auditors’ report on the financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2011.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The fees paid/payable to the Group’s external auditors
for services, including the audit service, for the year
ended 31 March 2011 was total to HK$2,000,000 (2010 :
HK$2,830,000).

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in
Appendix 10 of The Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors (the
“Model Code”). All Directors have confirmed, following
a specific enquiry by the Company, that they have fully
complied with the required standards as set out in the
Model Code during the year.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s
internal control systems and through the Audit
Committee, conducts reviews on the effectiveness of
these systems at least annually, covering all material
controls, financial, operational and compliance controls
and risk management functions. The process used in
reviewing the effectiveness of these internal control
systems includes discussion with management on risk
areas identified by management. The purpose of the
Company’s internal control is to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or
loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure
in operational systems so that the Company’s objectives

can be achieved.
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COMMUNICATION WITH 9. HBW2ZiE
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company endeavours to maintain a high level 2N E) B Y i BEL RS R R A R s I

of transparency in communicating with shareholders. S A AN w2 48 3 [ www.chinasolar-energy.com |
Extensive information of the Group’s activities, business A4 I A 42 ] 2 0GB ERS R RS KBk E 2
strategies and developments is provided, in additions to BRIz ERE > DL AR Bl 2 AR S A e

the Company’s annual reports and interim reports, in RN/ 5 NN Il Sl o [ N/ a3
our website “www.chinasolar-energy.com”. Shareholders WA K G %K g 5B AT 85
of the Company are encouraged to attend the annual BHERMEERG EFTEWAESE
general meeting of the Company which offers a valuable BEFEFE > R MERHRFE BT - M
forum for dialogue and interaction with management. B 2 B g 2 HoAl 5 AT R R AR K e b
The Chairman of the Board and the chairman of the ] 25 Tl oA B A AR T T 2 AR R e

Audit Committee, or in their absence, another member
of the relevant committee, are available at the annual
general meeting to answer questions from shareholders

on the business of the Group.

A
[
=
=
—
)
©
Z
-
—
@
T
e
QO
B
[
Z
2

Annual Report 2011 4F #




The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) submit
herewith their annual report together with the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries

are set out in note 42 to the financial statements.

The analyzes of the principal activities and geographical
locations of the operations of the Group during the financial year

are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2011 are
set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

on page 38.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividends
in respect of the year ended 31 March 2011 (2010: nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during

the year are set out in note 20 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set

out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2011, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders was HK$517,027,000 (2010
: HK$362,724,000) which represented the net balance of
contributed surplus of approximately HK$596,248,000
(2010 : HK$596,248,000), general reserves of approximately
HK$1,417,056,000 (2010 : HK$1,231,456,000) and
accumulated losses of approximately HK$1,496,277,000 (2010 :
HK$1,464,980,000).
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] 3k 53 Ik fak A

AT —AEZH =+ —H o AN A AR
F B A 2 il M5 £ 517,027,000 o0 (. F — FE
362,724,000 ¥ J0) - £ # A Bk %9 596,248,000 s
Je (& — FAF 596,248,000 75) - — M G i 4
1,417,056,000 # ot (= & — & 4F : 1,231,456,000 #
Jt) J B Et i 18 £1,496,277,000% o6 (& — FA4E
1,464,980,000% I ) HY 45 ik ¥ 48 o
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, turnover attributable to the Group’s
one major customer accounted for 100% of the total turnover for

the year.

The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the
Group’s one major supplier was accounted for the Group’s 100%

of the total purchase for the year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this

report were:

Chairman and executive director

Mr Yeung Ngo (appointed on 28 March 2011)
Mr Henry J. Behnke I1I

(non-executive and resigned on 28 March 2011)

Executive Directors

Mr Pierre Seligman (Managing Director)

Mr Yang Yuchun (appointed on 28 March 2011)
Ms Jin Yan (appointed on 28 March 2011)

Mr Chan Wai Kwong Peter

Mr On Kien Quoc

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr Yin Tat Man

Mr Tam Kam Biu William (resigned on 5 May 2011)
Mr Choi Shek Chau

Mr Choy Tak Ho (appointed on 28 March 2011)
Mr Chong Chi Wah (appointed on 28 March 2011)

FEREP R ERN

A AE R AR — 4 R AL s R
A 42 4F 48 EF I 100% o

AN A4S B B — 44 3 0L RE P RE AL 2 A BRI R AL
A AL [ A2 A AR I RH 2 100% ©

B
AR FE O RO E AT O Z T

ERIRPITES

M (R —F——F=H T /NHERAT)
Henry J. Behnke 1115% A4 (7% 3F #1017 6
Wk =& ——4=H =+ H ET)

PATHE S

Pierre Seligman’2E (3 2 A0 58 59)

AR ed O —F——F =1~ /\NHEZF)
BML LR ZF——HFE = VA EZRAT)
On Kien Quoct £

WoarJEPiTES

HEEA

AR SE A O = F — — 41 H L H @)

8 M S

LB B O —F —— 4 =H N AMZEAT)
EREE R F——F =1 +/\HEZ)

M98 A% 2 |) 2 2% 7] 40 HI) 55 88 6 > Pierre Seligman?t
A~ On Kien Quoclt A ~ 38 30 A K3 85 I Je A=
WREE AR M AR I IR R AE B A B 2 IR
R b E BT o

In accordance with bye-law 88 of the Company’s byelaws, Mr
Pierre Seligman, Mr On Kien Quoc, Mr Yin Tat Man and Mr
Choi Shek Chau shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves

for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election and re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired service
contract which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation,

other than normal statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

No contract of significance to which the Company, its holding
company, its fellow subsidiaries or any of its subsidiaries was a
party, in which a Director had a material interest, subsisted at the

end of the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF

EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN

SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2011, the interests or short positions of the

Directors and chief executives and their associates in the

shares of the Company as recorded in the register maintained

by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) or as otherwise notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the

“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model

Code”) were as follows:

Long position in the ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each (the

“Shares”) in the Company

EHRRLERTBEANRZ &I M4

BoF A=t 0 HERARF EH
FTECN B K55 2 B BN L i A o =) 22 et b
A C Bk AR AR A R AR R R O S R (TR o 2
BRI )) #3520 0 A7 B 2 4 ik 2 B g SR A
SR LT F AT R R 2 b B R E ST A (T AR
M EMGALALFEBBH G TARS
Al (THR A ) 2 i SR AF

T A oy v A B T 0.01 ¥ T ¥ IR (T ) 2
LI

Percentage
Number of issued
Name of Director of Shares Type of interest share capital
O AT A
wHEEA ity B H HE %3 28 51 B\l
Mr Yeung Ngo (“Mr Yeung”) 2,567,931,884 Beneficial 32.59%
8 S A (T S ) (Note a) i
(Bt 5Ea)
Mr Yang Yuchun (“Mr Yang”) 75,700,000 Beneficial 0.96%
s S A (T 52 ) (Note b) L
(B 5Eb)
Mr Pierre Seligman (“Mr Seligman”) 44,491,800 Beneficial 0.56%
Pierre Seligmant #E ([ Seligman’t 4 1) (Note c) H 4t
(Pt )
Mr Chan Wai Kwong Peter (“Mr Chan”) 8,750,000 Beneficial 0.11%
B 55 R (TBRAEZE ) (Note d) L
(B 3Ed)
Mr Yin Tat Man (“Mr Yin”) 1,000,000 Beneficial 0.01%
B SRR (T ) (Note e) L
(Bt 5ke)
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Notes:

a. Mr Yeung is beneficially interested in 31,700,000 warrants of the
Company through his wholly controlled entity, namely, Stream
Investment Group Limited and long position in 2,536,231,884 shares of
the Company.

b. Mr Yang and his wife are beneficially interested in 51,200,000 and
24,500,000 warrants of the Company respectively.

c. Mr Seligman is beneficially interested in 44,491,800 shares. Among
those shares, 29,491,800 were share options granted by the Company and
15,000,000 shares are the shares of the Company.

d. Mr Chan is beneficially interested in 8,750,000 shares. Among those
shares, 8,000,000 were share options granted by the Company and
750,000 shares are the shares of the Company.

e. Mr Yin is beneficially interested in 1,000,000 share option granted by the

Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2011, none of the
Directors or chief executives, nor their associates, had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTIONS

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the share
option scheme adopted by the Company on 29 July 2002 (the

“Scheme”).

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company to grant
options to employees, executives or officers of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and other persons who have made a
contribution to the Group as incentives and/or rewards for their

contributions to the Company or its subsidiaries.

According to the Scheme, the Board may grant options to the
eligible participants as defined in the Scheme to subscribe for
such number of shares as the Board may determine. Options
granted should be accepted within 30 days from the date of offer.
Upon acceptance of the options, the grantee shall pay HK$1 to

the Company by way of consideration for the grant.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EFEWHS

P 5E

a. 2 A 9 o A ¥E #E il B B¥Stream Investment Group
Limited B % % A7 4% 24 731,700,000 173 2 /I HE w8 K A% 28 W]
2,536,231,884 /B [ 03 Z 4 T -

b. A5 A B H 38 T 40 B AR B A R 4 A 51,200,000 1 K
24,500,000 58 M HE 7 o

c. Seligman 5625 FF 25 A 44,491,800 13 Bty = A 5% 45 We iy o
ARG w2 B I HE 429,491,800 8 - Tl A 2 F 2 B A
15,000,000 % °

d. B 5l A EE 4 B A7 8,750,000 By i By o WA W% S RO b AR
O A B 22 B I ORE 1 8,000,000 % o T A 28 F] 2 B A
750,000/

e % 5 A T 45 B 11,000,000 173 7 24 w452 H 2 H TBCHE o

Br ECPrig &4 =T ——F=A=+—H >
A g AT B B s AF 2 T BN A
A A S AT o7 A W ik O 3 A8 R I ke ol
SBXVI) 2 JBe A ~ AR I B f o5 HE R b R A AT T 2
AU B R R4 R R I ) B R 0 SR 352 R AE B 2 A4 1T
W2 BOR A SRR ESF Al g AR
B B 22 B 2 B AR BIR A o

B ot

UFAARARGR -FRZFLA LA RMKZ
S e M T ) ([ Rzt ) )) 2 E R -

W%l B AE A Al A AR IR H R 2
Ay A B AT AT B 2w R B~ AT BON B S )
Bk B DL RCH A A 5 R HE o fE B S A
) BCH A Ja 2 A R 2 A K B Jel R

MR aZ wt &) 5 Al o sk TR E 2 S R
S EFERZ R DR W ER G ERE 2
JBe iy o 452t 2 T HE JH B A BT RE30 B A
A o TR AN I RCRE R R A ZH T AR A R ST L T
1 T 43 U FEC 2 X -
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The exercise price of options shall be determined by the Board,
save that such price will not be less than the highest of (a) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant, which must be a business
day; (b) the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; or (c) the nominal

value of a share.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme and
any other share option scheme(s) of the Company must not
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company on the
date of approval and adoption of the Scheme provided that the
Company may at any time seek approval from its shareholders
to refresh the limit to 10% of the shares in issue as at the date
of approval by the shareholders in general meeting where such
limit is refreshed. Options previously granted under any share
option schemes of the Company (including those outstanding,
cancelled, lapsed in accordance with such schemes or exercised
options) will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the

limit as refreshed.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted under the Scheme and
any other share option scheme(s) of the Company (including
exercised and outstanding options) to each eligible participant in
any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1%
of the shares in issue as at the date of grant. Options granted to
substantial shareholders or independent non-executive Directors
or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules)
in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s issued share capital on the
date of grant or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be

approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders.

The period during which an option may be exercised will be
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, save that no
options can be exercised more than 10 years after it has been
granted. There is no general requirement that an option must
be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised. The
Scheme will expire on 29 July 2012.
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The total number of Shares available for issue under the Scheme MRIE % 51 # AT T 8847 2 I 00 A B 5 360,278 1 (4 7
was 360,278 Shares (representing 0.01% of the Shares in issue as AR B EEEAT fy 20.01%) °

at the date of this report).

The movements in share options granted under the Scheme AR A BE AR DR 5% T T R B T

during the year are shown below:

Exercise price (Note )

7 08 (W )
Lapsed
Outstanding Adjusted during the Outstanding Granted Exercised Cancelled Transferred Outstanding
Before After at on year ended at during the during the during the during the at
Current position Date of grant 24.7.2009 2472009 Exercisable period 14,2009 24.7.2009 31.3.2010 313.2010 year year year year 31.3.2011
REBRRE REBEAE REZRAE REFEAE o REF——4
LA LA WA—H th +-n EVES Sl
BB i ShmEw o SRR M WARE ST EREE A A7 B RN AP B TR W AW R LESEid
HK$ HK$ (Note i) (Note i) (Note iii) (Note iv) (Noteii)
7t it (W 3ki) (W ki) (W 3Ei) (M 3tiv) (H3tii)
Directors of the Company
LYALE £
Pierre Seligman 25.11.2004 0.0880 00740 20.12.2004 - 19.12.2014 23,100,000 4,481,400 - 27,581,400 - - - - 27,581,400
“RFIWE CEREFACTAE
t=AZ LA ZE-NEFZATAR
12.6.2005 0.1660 0.1390  27.6.2005 - 26.6.2015 1,600,000 310,400 - 1,910,400 - - - - 1,910,400
“RFAE CERREAACFLAE
ARZFZR SE-REAACHAR
Chan Wai Kwong, Peter 1342010 N/A 01870 284.2010-274.2020 - - - - 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000
WA “E-RE R CE-RENASEARE
WA+=H ZEZEENAZFLH
6.1.2011 N/A 01414 10.1.2011-9.1.2021 - - - - 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000
S T SE-—F-ATRE
—HXH SEZ-E-ARA
Yin Tat Man 1342010 N/A 01870 284.2010-274.2020 - - - - 500,000 - - - 500,000
HEX Jut o 2 FER CER-FENACHARE
mA+=H ZECRENAZHEH
6.1.2011 N/A 0.1414  10.1.2011-9.1.2021 - - - - 500,000 - - - 500,000
ot S 3 R SE-—F-ATRE
il ZEZ-FE-RAR
Employees 12.6.2005 0.1660 0.1390  20.7.2005-19.7.2015 1,000,000 194,000 - 1,194,000 - - - (1,194,000) -
fER ZRFHE ZEREELACSTHE
AAZFZH SE-RELATAA
49.2007 05660 04740 3.10.2007-2.10.2017 19,700,000 3,637,500 (950,000) 12,387,500 - - - 8,358,000 30,745,500
e 3 23 ZEZLETAZRE
SRR ZE-LEHAZE
1342010 N/A 01870 284.2010-274.2020 - - - - 39,500,000 - - 3,000,000 42,500,000
e S R CE-REMASFARE
MA+=H SESRENASTEA
6.1.2011 N/A 0.1414  10.1.2011-9.1.2021 - - - - 63,500,000 - - 2,000,000 65,500,000
“F—F R ZEE-ATAE
L] It St S b
Consultants 22.12.2003 0.1660 01340 1.1.2004-1.1.2014 16,117,006 3,126,699 - 19,243,705 - - - - 19,243,705
L] “EEZE SEEME-A-RE
FZAZFZA SE-WE-A-A
25.11.2004 0.0880 00740 20.12.2004 - 19.12.2014 23,100,000 4,481,400 - 27,581,400 - - - - 27,581,400
“EFNE CERELACTAE
+-AZ+IH ZE-WEFZAT R
12.6.2005 0.1660 01390 20.7.2005-19.7.2015 99,000,000 19,206,000 - 118,206,000 - - - 1,194,000 119,400,000
“ETHE SEFEELACTRE
AAZTZR SE-RELATAA
49.2007 05660 04740 3.10.2007-2.10.2017 326,300,000 63,302,200 - 389,602,200 - - - (8,358,000 381,244,200
“EFLE ZERLETAZAE
hAmE ZE-LEHAZH
1342010 N/A 01870 284.2010-274.2020 - - - - 612,500,000 (600,000) (305,000,000) (3,000,000) 303,900,000
Z2-%% T SE-FENAZTARE
WA+=A SECRENAZTEA
6.1.2011 N/A 0.1414  10.1.2011-9.1.2021 - - - - 646,500,000 - - (2,000,000) 644,500,000
“E—F K I i R E
—RAH ZEZ-F-ARA
Directors and employees 49.2007 05680 04740 3.10.2007-2.10.2017 30,000,000 5,820,000 - 35,820,000 - - - - 35,820,000
of an associate
BEANESLER e 3 23 ZEZLETAZRE
SRR ZE-tEHAZH
Exercisable at the end of the year 539,917,006 104,559,599 (950,000) 643,526,605 1,371,000,000 (600,000) (305,000,000) - 1,708,926,605
SR 71

Annual Report 2011 4F #




A
[
=
=
—
)
©
Z
-
—
@
T
e
QO
B
[
Z
2

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EFEFEWHS

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company, its holding company, its fellow subsidiaries or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or

debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

Pursuant to Rule 8.10(2) of the Listing Rules, details of the
interests held by the Directors in business which is considered
to compete or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,

with the business of the Group, are disclosed as follows:

W i Jz o ok HE i & HE

B b SCHT B8R & Ah > AN A KRN -
2 [ f B > ) EL A e B JBS 2% DR A A AT AT ey ]
ML 2 SHLAT: ] 22 B > B30 4% o o AT R A AR A )
AT AT H A 2 m) 2 i A T AR -

EHERBR PR DR

HLE b T 58102 T B A 1T L 2
LT S A S B ST AT o T
HE 25 I 95 A0 T

Competing PR Y
Name of company business SR ®H
REXCAPITAL Finance Limited (“RFL”) Money lending HZEESEFEA T (THEES]) 5 5
RPI Finance Limited (“RPI”) Money lending & EARAF (THETE ] 55
TKR Finance Limited (“TKR”) Money lending = 2R B A TR 55

Mr Chan How Chung Victor is the director of these companies
and the director of D & M Finance Limited (“D & M”), one
of the subsidiaries of our Group engaging in money lending
business. The terms and conditions of the financing loans of
each of RFL, RPI and TKR are market driven and agreed at arm’s
length between the borrowers and the financiers. When making
decisions on the above competing businesses, the relevant
Director, in the performance of his duty as directors of D & M,
has acted and will continue to act in the best commercial interest
of the Group. During the year, 85% interest in D & M had been
disposed of. As such, D & M is no longer the subsidiary of the
Group.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2011, the interests or short positions of the

following parties in the shares of the Company as recorded in the

register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in the Shares

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EFEWHS

FEER R
REoF -SSR AR A

LB el 5336 fr B 2 & M BTl - R AN+
JRAS A F B A 2 AR SR T

TR ey 2 55

i

Approximate
Directly Through percentage
beneficially Controlled of issued
owned corporation Total number share capital
78 e 8T A
Name of Shareholder i 5 44 1R HEEMES ZrEEE AR BEA A 4 b
Mr Yeung Ngo (“Mr Yeung”) {1 58 46 4= ([ 454 1)
(note 1) (M2ET) 2,536,231,884 31,700,000 2,567,931,884 32.59%
Li Di (notes 2, 3) 2= (W aE2 - 3) 112,030,000 591,941,027 703,971,027 8.93%
Topskill Holdings Limited Topskill Holdings Limited 126,335,000 465,606,027 591,941,027 7.51%
Multichannel Investments Multichannel Investments 465,606,027 - 465,606,027 5.91%
Notes: P 5E
1. Mr Yeung is beneficially interested in 31,700,000 warrants of the 1. 2 A 9 o A % #E il B B¥Stream Investment Group

Company through his wholly controlled entity, namely, Stream
Investment Group Limited and long position in 2,536,231,884 shares of
the Company.

Topskill Holdings Limited is wholly owned by Mr Li Di and the interest
of Topskill Holdings Limited in 706,335,000 Shares is reported as interest
of Mr Li Di through controlled corporation.

Multichannel Investments Limited is the wholly owned subsidiary of
Flytech Holdings Limited which is wholly owned by Topskill Holdings
Limited. The interest of Multichannel Investments Limited in
580,000,000 Shares is reported as interest of Topskill Holdings Limited
through controlled corporation.

Save as disclosed above, the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO shows that as at 31 March 2011, the

Company had not been notified of any other person who had an

interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of

the Company.

Limited B %2 # A7 A% 24 7 31,700,000 173 78 Ji #E 76 Je A /A 7]
2,536,231,884 B & 17y 2 47 A »

2. Topskill Holdings Limited H 2% 25 56 2 4 G #E 47 » i Topskill
Holdings Limited/# 706,335,000 i % f7> 2 K 45 52 % /3 2= o6
S i 7 P B AT 2 MR o

3. Multichannel Investments Limited2Flytech Holdings Limited
Z % ¥ Mt & A W) > TfiFlytech Holdings LimitedHl] B Topskill
Holdings Limited % & #E 4 ° Multichannel Investments Limited
T4 580,000,000 /1 11 153 2 HE 4 5 ¥ £ Topskill Holdings Limited
B L R A -

B b SO 8 AN > AR R A I W B R 1 5 336
Bz A MPER - 2% ——F=A=+—H >
A% 7y ) 3 28 4 R AT AT ] At N A A 2 D e £y
L B B A7 v 0 A HE A BOIR A -
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION
OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year under review, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any listed

securities of the Company.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Company and the Group as at 31

March 2011 are set out in note 30 to the financial statements.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out

on page 132.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws or the laws in Bermuda, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing

shareholders.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company had adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the directors. All Directors have confirmed,
following specific enquiry by the Company, that they had
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 March 2011.
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CODE OF BEST PRACTICE

The Company had complied with the Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31
March 2011 except for the following deviations:

Code Provision A.4.1

Under the code provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should
be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. The
current independent non-executive directors of the Company

are not appointed for a specific term.

However, all directors (including executive and non-executive)
of the Company are subject to retirement by rotation at the
annual general meeting as specified in the bye-laws of the

Company.

Code Provision E.1.2

Under the code provision E.1.2 the chairman of the board should
attend the annual general meeting. The Chairman of the Board,
Mr Henry J. Behnke III was unable to attend the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 6 September 2010 due to
personal reasons. However, an Executive Director, present at the
annual general meeting who then took the chair of that meeting

in accordance with the Bye-Laws of the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company consisted of Mr Yin Tat
Man, Mr Choi Shek Chau, Mr Choy Tak Ho and Mr Chong
Chi Wah, the four independent non-executive Directors.
The primary duties of the audit committee are to review the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, and
the financial reporting process and internal control system of the
Group, including the review of and the approval of the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2011.

The audited consolidated financial statements has been approved

by the audit committee.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficiency of public float
throughout the year ended 31 March 2011.

AUDITORS

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to
re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditors of the

Company.

By order of the Board

Pierre Seligman

Managing Director

Hong Kong, 27 June 2011
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

Deloitte.
=2

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA SOLAR ENERGY
HOLDINGS LIMITED
3L W A VR 4 A PR 2 )

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Solar Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 38 to 131, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2011, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued
by the HKICPA. Those standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

B o B ¥ S

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall

presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified audit opinion.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

As disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements,
during the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group has granted
1,259,000,000 share options to certain consultants, which
vested immediately upon their issuance. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, these share options were granted to
these consultants for rendering services to the Group, including
consultancy services in respect of seeking potential investors
to invest in the Company and identification of potential
investment opportunities in the solar energy business. The Group
has determined the total fair value of the share options at the
respective dates of grant was HK$137,759,000 and charged the
full amount to profit or loss and included as consultancy expenses
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. During
the year ended 31 March 2011, 305,000,000 share options were
subsequently cancelled and the relevant fair value previously
charged to profit or loss of HK$38,949,000 was transferred from

share option reserve to accumulated losses.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

However, since these share options were granted by the Company
without entering into formal service agreements with these
consultants, we were unable to obtain sufficient information with
respect to the nature, scope and the length of the consultancy
services to be provided by the consultants and obtain other
sufficient appropriate audit evidence and explanations to satisfy
ourselves that the recorded consultancy expenses and the transfer
of share option reserve to accumulated losses upon cancellation
of the share options have been appropriately recorded in
accordance with the requirements of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standard 2 “Share-based Payment” issued by the
HKICPA, including whether it is appropriate for the full amount
of these share options to be charged to profit or loss in the
current year. Any adjustments that would be required may have
a consequential significant effect on the total assets less current
liabilities as at 31 March 2011 and the total comprehensive
expense for the year and the related disclosures in the notes to

the consolidated financial statements.

QUALIFIED OPINION

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters as
described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraphs, the
consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2011 and of its loss
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 June 2011
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mazmik A®

For the year ended 31 March 2011

BE-F-—#=A=+—HILEE

2011
—2——
NOTES HK$’000
i 51 Tt
Continuing operations REREER
Revenue A 7 174,418
Costs of long-term service contracts S AR ZETS = R
of photovoltaic business AN AP WiN (169,296)
Other income, gains and losses oA A~ ik i K s R 9 14
(Loss) gain on financial instruments S f T H (5 18) Ut 10 (859)
Staff costs B TR 11 (20,685)
Consultancy expenses B 1] B 52 (159,836)
Depreciation of property, plant W - B Bk
and equipment g (207)
Amortisation of intangible assets TV E B (14,058)
Reversal of allowance for an amount JRE Wi — 44 Wk 5 N
due from the majority shareholder KB TR 2% TE 43 [
of an associate T 23
Allowance for bad and doubtful debts JRE i B 3 % L Ath JE Wi 0
— trade and other receivables ) R S T 4
Allowance for obsolete inventories e JB% A7 B 15
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries th B B B A ml kAR 35(a)
Other expenses e Ath B 32
Share of result of associates g3 A1k Bk 4 2 W] SE AR
Finance costs Fill B AR 12
Loss before taxation ok ol I 5 18 (192,406)
Taxation Bl 6 13 =
Loss for the year from continuing KH RS ETN
operations HE 15 (192,406)
Discontinued operations CRIERE EH
Loss for the year from discontinued KB E & IEREEBN
operations A R 14 (6,414)

Loss for the year

4F ) 1R

(198,820)
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2010
SEEE
HK$’000
T

460,117

(431,360)
75
6,283
(9,655)
(9,297)

(259)

(14,058)

4,089

(7,750)
(66,728)

(17,063)
(289)
(85,895)

(85,895)

(10,180)

(96,075)



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mazmik A%

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE X ——F=H=1T—HIEHEE

2011 2010
—z——u T
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# T T
Other comprehensive income (expense) 3 il 2 TR (B 32)
Exchange differences arising on translation #5835 4h ZE 7 & A= 1
of foreign operations T 5, 75 B 50 (6)
Total comprehensive expense for the year SN 4 T B S A %E (198,770) (96,081)
Loss for the year attributable to: AN AL AR A 1R
Owners of the Company LN
— Loss for the year from continuing — 7R H R AR T
operations Y 4F B e 18 (190,690) (82,002)
— Loss for the year from discontinued —RAEKRIERE
operations SET5 Y A i 1R (6,414) (10,180)
Loss for the year attributable to owners AN ) B R A AF JEE T 18
of the Company (197,104) (92,182)
Non-controlling interests I P2 B 2
Loss for the year from continuing I ¥ I HE 25 B A 2 B
operations attributable to FF 8 508 2B )
non-controlling interests A ¥ 1R (1,716)
(198,820) (96,075)
Total comprehensive expense 3N - HE A 4 T BH S
attributable to: M
Owners of the Company VNN (197,054) (92,188)
Non-controlling interests I PE I HE A (1,716) (3,893)
(198,770) (96,081)
Loss per share % s 18 HK cents HK cents
& il A
From continuing and discontinued A RR A B AR R
operations T
Basic FAR (1.46)
From continuing operations A A R AR T
Basic HAR (1.30)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= o Wl & il R

At 31 March 2011
A E—-—HF=A=+—H

Non-current assets I i B
Property, plant and equipment LE B &
Intangible assets WY E
Goodwill GRS
Interests in associates AT 4 8 ) A R £
Available-for-sale investments IR RS <
Loan receivable JRE Wiz £ 7K
Current assets it B &
Trade receivables JHE iz B 7K
Amount due from a customer for JEWH 4 € TAE
contract work IR
Inventories ey
Deposits, prepayments and i 4~ TEAT ECE I
other receivables Al 1 Wi 2K IR
Held-for-trading investments FHFEEERE
Tax recoverable IR QBN
Bank balances and cash SRAT &5 i R Bl 4
Current liabilities =
Trade and other payables JARE A B SR B L Al 1R £+
I
Amount due to a shareholder JREAF JBE R K TR
Tax payable JHE A i TE
Net current assets i B

Total assets less current liabilities

7 A (E A B) A AR
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HK$’000
T

224
67,943
36,592

3,850
15,038
5,000

128,647

218,305

26,524
17,817

93,224

355,870

16,246

16,246

339,624

468,271

2010
SEEE
HK$’000
T

130,548

8,222
16,962
44
265,168

334,283

25,248
4,199
118
29,565

304,718

435,266



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B o Wl & il R %

At 31 March 2011
e =V T

2011 2010
e -
HK$’000 HK$°000
Tt T T
EQUITY HE £5 %
Share capital Jila%N 78,806 71,580
Resetves B 389,577 362080 =<2
4
Equity attributable to owners of AN A R AL HE 2
the Company 468,383 433,662
Non-controlling interests JE 2 B WE 75 (112) 1,604
Total equity HHE 75 468,271 435,266 %
The consolidated financial statements on pages 38 to 131 were FIEVBIEWGEEMERELERTFER - F——
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on EARHAZ T C AR AT > Al F I EE
27 June 2011 and are signed on its behalf by: RFELEE
Yeung Ngo Pierre Seligman ﬁ
i 55 DIRECTOR
DIRECTOR #H b\
P T o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQuUiTY
DO mBE 8 F

For the year ended 31 March 2011

BEZZFE——®FE=A=1+—HILEE

Attributable to owners of the Company Attributable to non-controlling interests
A AR R B B 1
Share of
netassets  Share option
Share Share  Share option  Contributed Exchange Warrant ~ Accumulated (liabilities) ~ reserve of
capital premium resetve surplus resetve reserve losses Total  of subsidiaries ~ a subsidiary  Total equity
EWHE  —FRHE
il e AREE il

Bk Befvial  WEEGH  MARSK ARG b RiER oGt (ABOWE TRRHEG Bl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$1000 HK$1000 HK$'000
T T T T T T T TiT T T T
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(Note a) (Note b) (Note c) (Notea)
(k) (Hi3tb) (Hike) (Hita)

At 1 April 2009 REZZNENA—H 4120 858,165 125971 596,248 - - (13713434) 150,676 4520 1 56,173
Loss for the year EFER - - - - - - (92,182) (92,182) (3,893) - (96,075)
Exchange differences arising on WS E A

translation of foreign operations ERER - - - - (6) - - (6) - = (6)
Total comprehensive expense for the year 4 [ 2 [ ] 3 44 % - - - - (6) S (92,182) (92,188) (3,893) = (96,081)
Wartants issued BT e R - - - - - 26017 - 26017 - - 26007
Transaction costs attributable to issue BT R A

of wartants LA - - - = = (1814) - (1814) - - (1814)
Shares issued G 27,860 128,620 = = - - - 156,480 = = 156,480
Transaction costs attributable to issue BROENLZS

of shares %S - (5,519) - - - - - (5,519) - - (5,519)
At 31 March 2010 REF-F4

SHES il 71,580 1,081,266 15977 596,248 (6) W3 (1465,616) 433,662 61 1 435,266

Loss for the year FEER = = = = = - (197,104)  (197,104) (1,716) = (198,820)
Exchange differences arising on AN 1Y

translation of foreign operations E5ixR - - - - 50 - - 50 - - 50
Total comprehensive expense for the year £ [ 2 [ % 4% = = = = 50 = (197,104) (197,054) (1,716) = (198,770)
Exercise of warrants ISt 0 303 - - - (246) - n - - n
Shares issued EET R 7,200 74,880 - - - - - 82,080 - - 82,080
Transaction costs attributable to issue BT 12 5 Ak

of shares - (100) - - - - - (100) - - (100)
Recognition of equity-settled share R UV 28 45 5 D) e

based payments K HIE = = 149,605 2 = = = 149,605 5 5 149,605
Exercise of share options gl e 6 183 (76) - - - - 113 - - 113
Cancellation of share options B 4 - - (38,949) - - - 38,949 - - - -
At31 March 2011 REF——F

ZH=Z+-H 78,806 1,156,532 136,57 596,148 4 8967 (1623771) 468,383 (1,089) m 468,271
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Notes:

(b)

(c)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQuUITY

The share option reserve arises from the share-based compensation
regarding the share options granted by the Company and a subsidiary as
referred to in note 36.

(i) Pursuant to a special resolution passed on 11 August 2001, a
capital reorganisation was undertaken which involved share
subdivision on the basis that every issued and unissued share
of HK$0.10 each in the capital of the Company was divided
into two subdivided shares of HK$0.05 each and the nominal
value of each of the subdivided shares in issue was reduced from
HK$0.05 to HK$0.01 by cancelling HK$0.04 paid up capital
on each issued subdivided share. Every unissued subdivided
share of HK$0.05 each was further divided into five new shares
of HK$0.01 each. The reduction in share capital amounting to
HK$419,002,000 was credited to the contributed surplus.

(ii) Pursuant to a special resolution passed on 29 July 2002, a capital
reorganisation was undertaken on 30 July 2002 to consolidate
shares on the basis that every twenty issued and unissued
shares of HK$0.01 each in the capital of the Company were
consolidated into one consolidated share of HK$0.20 each. The
nominal value of each of the consolidated shares in issue was
reduced from HK$0.20 to HK$0.01 by cancelling HK$0.19 paid
up capital on each issued consolidated share and the subdivision
of each unissued consolidated share of HK$0.20 each into
twenty new shares of HK$0.01 each and as a result, an amount
of HK$177,246,000 was credited to the contributed surplus.

On 17 December 2009, the Company entered into a warrant placing
agreement (the “Warrant Placing Agreement”) with Kingston Securities
Limited (the “Placing Agent”) pursuant to which the Company agreed
to place, through the Placing Agent, 1,131,600,000 warrants, on a fully
underwritten basis, at the issue price of HK$0.023 per warrant.

Pursuant to the Warrant Placing Agreement, the warrants entitle the
holders to subscribe for a maximum of 1,131,600,000 new ordinary shares
of the Company at an initial subscription price of HK$0.14 per share,
subject to anti-dilutive adjustments, at any time from 10 February 2010
to 9 February 2012, both dates inclusive. Each warrant carries the right
to subscribe for one new ordinary share of the Company. The placing
of warrants was completed on 5 February 2010. The gross proceeds on
the issue of warrants was HK$26,027,000 and the net proceeds, after
deducting transaction cost of HK$1,814,000, were recognised in the
warrant reserve in equity.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, 2,000,000 (2010: nil) warrants
have been exercised by registered. Exercise in full of the remaining
warrants would result in the issue of 1,129,600,000 additional ordinary
shares of HK$0.01 each in the Company.

e 5

(a)

(b)

= J\ fEE ¥ £%
DI iE &8k
For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE _F——F=H=1T—HILEE

U FEHEE £t A6 7 ) B B 36 9 ot A A ) B — [ B oG 4 ) T
5 G S TS A R L IR 033 S A ) A 0 T A

(i) MRAE— TR R — 4 \H - — H @ 5l
Wk R > T EAEM > WY Rk
R E 5y e AR o R B AR v A B T {ELO.10 ¥ TT HY
JBe R AT B AR SR AT I 4 20 47 2% 199 M A5 JB T 10.05
W T0 Y 3 4 By o 392 Rt A B AT 0 R R
3 ) B0 A BE 850.04 98 0T - O 19 B 28R AT
5 F 4> B4 T {EL Fh 0.05 % TE 1 9k £ 0.01 % 7T © £
B TH {EL0.05 9 JT FA) 15 Ji R 86 AT 0 4 I o — 2
3 By L 5 B TRT (EL0.01 ¥ G RO BT A o M A ) Ik
419,002,000 7C — = B 7H A B ZLER -

(ii) RN S FF F LA L HE A4
APRRE - R _FF_AFELH =T HEGETE
AT AR F R AS g A R R (R
0.01% JC 1Y B 8547 e REEAT M A 0F 1 — I 5
Ji% T {EL.0.20 %5 T 1 & OF B 03 1 56 M 3 47 Iy 5
P o 4 4 1 I 2 35 1T & OF IR 0 19 B2 B A 5
$50.19%5 7T M % B i 17 {5.0. 205 Je 1Y 5 B R 35 47
& O B A% 43 % By — -+ % 45 % TE (R0.01 s T Y Hr
& - 4 B B BEAT A OF IR A T (L ph 0.20%5 T Ml B8R
F0.01% 70 o Atk > A A F] % 177,246,000 % G 7t
AN BB -

RoFFAET AL AN SR L E SR
25 A (T B B AR ) R S7 w8 s o i 5 i ok (T R J A s i
ek ) o BRI o AN O F R R AR R B B
L e DL 8 FCHE 50,023 9 TG Y 8547 8 it B 1,131,600,000
3 8 s R R

R R 5 1 ok o AR R R R T R IR RE RS R A A
RE A AT 42 40 2 58 0 A 49 T B 43 0. 14 95 e (AT i 37 2 48 14
WA _E-FE_A+AZE_F—-_F_ALA (8
T6 8 R W A ) B A AT AT R 16 52 1 B £ 1,131,600,000 1
JREARY = A5 {5 b i 85 2 0 B A/ ) — B e 493 PO RE R o
RREFENREFEOR - —FFE _H AT - 5
AT 8 8 A 7 1 BT A5 3K TEL 4 AR /% 26,027,000 % G K T 15 3K
T 7 B8 (4540 BR 28 5 A 45 1,814,000% 70) B 74 i 25 A9 78
R S fts 5 PP AR o

WME_Z-—F=A=1+—HILHE Bilka ACT
142,000,000 3 (=% —F4E © Efy) GBI - BBATHE
ik N 8 M HE R 2 BOAS 24 R 28R 47 1,129,600,000 1 4 Ji%
T {E0.01 ¥ T HY 8 1 3% 3 i o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLoOws

moBeHaEa%

For the year ended 31 March 2011

BE-F-—#=A=+—HILEE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before taxation
Adjustments for:

Interest expenses

Interest income

Dividend income

Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment

RN H)
¥R Bt i s 12
R
H B BH 32
B WA
& B A
e

Bad debts written off 5 B i 8H
Amortisation of intangible assets IV G 8
Share-based payment expenses LB 453 32 A 1Y B 32
Share of result of associates Do) R /NI ¥
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries th B A 2w i i
Change in fair value of derivative fir Az 4 T2 A e
financial instruments {5 A 5 )
Reversal of allowance for an amount JE Wi — 42 B 5 /8
due from the majority shareholder K SRR T F [
of an associate A
Allowance for bad and doubtful debts S B R
Allowance for obsolete inventories okt JB% A7 5 43 Mg
Operating cash flows before movements B A s Y
in working capital Kam Bl
Increase in held-for-trading investments PR B B
Decrease in trade receivables JAEE AT B K ek 2D
Decrease in loan receivables B AT B K ek D
Increase in amount due from a customer MWL % F 4% TAE
for contract work 2K LE B

Increase in deposits, prepayments and
other receivables

Increase in trade and other payables

&~ BATRIE R

JFC At B S 3K I 48

B ARF R 3K B JFC At B A+F

RTE B8
Cash used in operations RE i mBE
Interest received i A S
Tax refund £ 48 [8] B TH
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING #5028 15 B e B B 4
ACTIVITIES ek

Annual Report 2011 4F #

HK$’000
T

(198,820)

(71)

207
684
14,058
149,605
265
(16,387)

(174,418)

(32,026)

1,432

(256,326)

(256,326)

2010
SEEE
HK$’000
T

(96,031)

(427)

(4,089)
7,750
66,728

(10,872)
(4,547)
199
32,949
(43,887)
(2,617)
5,997
(22,778)

4
26

(22,748)



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLows

moBeHaEa%f

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE X ——F=H=1T—HIEHEE

2010
—xx
NOTE HK$’000 HK$’000
! T# L T
INVESTING ACTIVITIES B & W B
Interest received 2 i Il S =
Payments to acquire property, plant A - BE K&
and equipment i 5 5 3K (56)
Purchase of available-for-sale investments  Hff B 0] fit i & % & (3,681)
Net cash proceeds from disposal of B K& 2w B
subsidiaries T 15 2K JE 5 A 35(a) 3,520
Dividends received from held-for-trading FEERE#ED IR
investments B 19
Loan receivable granted B 57 H 1Y i B -
Repayment from the majority — % W N =) R % R
shareholder of an associate e 10,000
Repayment from related companies B 78 N F) 2 K 13,224
NET CASH FROM INVESTING BEGHHMGHE
ACTIVITIES ¥ 23,026
FINANCING ACTIVITIES & I 3
Interest paid EERRIS (289)
Repayment to a shareholder ] — 44 B A AR K (17,992)
Proceeds from issue of warrants BEAT 7R A R T A5 26,027
Proceeds from issue of shares BEAT B Ay BT A5 K IE 256,480
Share issue expenses BEAT Ay BA 52 (5,519)
Warrant issue expenses BEAT w0 RO HE % B 52 (1,814)
Proceeds from exercise of warrants AT {5 352 13 A 3% T 45 ik JH -
Proceeds from exercise of share options A7 A 1 JIE HE BT 15 2K E —
NET CASH FROM FINANCING MEWNBIGEHE
ACTIVITIES o 77,971 256,893
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN BeERkBEEHED
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (kA ) 3 Jm 5 #1 (171,994) 257,171
BANK BALANCES AND CASH AT TR o B4 BE Y R AT
BEGINNING OF FINANCIAL YEAR  #:ifiz & Bl & 265,168 8,003
Effect a foreign exchange rate changes A1 T T 5 53 8 1) 5 2 50 (6)
BANK BALANCES AND CASH T B B A P K B SR AT
AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR &5 B Bl & 265,168

Annual Report 2011 4F #




-
1)
=
=
—
9P
O
Z
-
—
o
e
>~
O
ad
)
4
)

NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= o Wl B W % W &t

For the year ended 31 March 2011
ME_LX—— 4 A =+ —HIEEE

I

GENERAL

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“SEHK”). The
addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” section to the annual report. The Company
has established a Sponsored Level I American Depository
Receipt Programme and the trading of its American
depository shares on an over-the counter market
commenced on 29 January 2007 in the United States of
America (“USA”).

The functional currency of the Company is Hong
Kong dollars (“HKD”) and the consolidated financial

statements are presented in HKD.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Group’s subsidiaries are mainly engaged in the following

activities:

= development, manufacturing, marketing and sale
of photovoltaic solar cells, modules and panels
for generating solar electric power and related
training and consulting services (“photovoltaic

business”)

- participation in primary and secondary securities

markets

The Group was also engaged in capital market activities
(provision of capital market advisory services) and
financing activities (provision of commercial and
personal loans) which were discontinued in the current

year (see note 14).
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AN E B REE MR LA RA A
FLB Ay A W W S 5 5 B A BR 2 ) (M 52
Brl) BT o A2 A Gk e R K e
Hin B B b ik B A A A R R EORH] — B
TULER o AN F B s oL 5 — 8 5 B T e
WA R HFOR FF
EHE-AZTHBRRER(TXE]) 5
ST HE -

AnFRIRER BET(TET] > 58
BB R R LI T 251 -

Aoy )y — B B R o A 4R [ R
J& AR EEREELTES -

- KK fiE B A L AR KBS g it - Al
P~ EEE A BB AR -
B DA B BY B % e R B (T
RFEH )

|
®

BT RO BB ST

A W IR S R AT B (R B AT
A R ) K O B (B O e 3 (RN &
) o M EZSF SEHS OO A AR AR R (R
2B KEE14) o



NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o Wl B W % W st

APPLICATION OF NEW
AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and revised HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountant (the “HKICPA”)

that are relevant to its operations and are effective for

the financial year beginning on 1 April 2010.

HKFRS 2
(Amendments)

HKERS 3 (as revised in
2008)

HKAS 27 (as revised in
2008)

HKAS 32 (Amendment)

HKAS 39

(Amendments)
HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HK(IFRIC) — INT 17

HK - INT 5

Group cash-settled share-
based payment transactions

Business combinations

Consolidated and separate
financial statements

Classification of rights issues

Eligible hedged items

Improvements to HKFRSs
issued in 2009

Amendments to HKFRS 5
as part of Improvements to
HKFRSs issued in 2008

Distributions of non-cash

assets to owners

Presentation of financial
statements — Classification
by the borrower of a
term loan that contains
a repayment on demand

clause

Except as described below, the application of the new and

revised HKFRSs in the cutrent year has had no material

effect on the amounts reported in the consolidated

financial statements and disclosures set out in these

consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE _F——F=H=1T—HILEE

A AR > ASE B E ) LA A s R AT
28 (T i & w2 & 1) 28 e B9 S48 4
EBARLR —F —FHEMA —HBHHK
B IR R A O B T B AR AE T A A R
A o

T s 05 5 B RV 5 4 [ B 4 A A DA IR Ay
298 (BRI A) iy SEREAT N 22 5
T v RS i ME RIS SEHS A I

38 (= FFNFE

#1)
FWGETEAIE 27 56 B R
(ZZZ )N FEFT)

Fw GR350 (8

(EHT4%)

FH G ERSE30 A EA& B IEE
(EHTA)

TW M B R A ER B T IR

(EFTA) s s i e
11 ok 2t

s I B it MR A o S o

(ERTA) ESEEMERT > B
T F )\ AER M F
T S 5 i o Y
o U

T (E BB HRE A A0 kIR B &

REZAEE) -7 %
RS 179%

Tl — RS PAS IR AR 25 -
N E 65 B Rp 2
S i 78 6 S0 i 2 3
BB 2 1

BR N At Ah o R AR A BE I T G AE R ET % AR
16 5T 7 s B 5 ok e T A S BB R R
Jir 2 0 B I % S AR A I R R T Y
7 EORHIG M R -
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NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE _F——F=H=1T—HILFEF

725

APPLICATION OF NEW

AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs applied in the

current year

Amendments to HKFRS 5 Non-current assets held
for sale and discontinued operations (as part of
Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009)

The amendments to HKFRS 5 clarify that the disclosure
requirements in HKFRSs other than HKFRS 5 do not
apply to non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified
as held for sale or discontinued operations unless those
HKEFRSs require (i) specific disclosures in respect of non-
current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for
sale or discontinued operations, or (ii) disclosures about
measurement of assets and liabilities within a disposal
group that are not within the scope of the measurement
requirement of HKFRS 5 and the disclosures are not

already provided in the consolidated financial statements.

Disclosures in these consolidated financial statements

have been modified to reflect the above clarification.

HKEFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) Business combinations

The Group applies HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008)
“Business combinations” prospectively to business
combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after

1 April 2010.

As there was no transaction during the current year in
which HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) is applicable, the
application of HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) and the
consequential amendments to other HKFRSs had no
effect on the consolidated financial statements of the

Group for the current or prior accounting years.

Results of the Group in future periods may be affected by
the future transactions for which HKFRS 3 (revised) and
the consequential amendments to the other HKFRSs are

applicable.
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7% A5 IR A0 Y B AT B £E K AT A v
B i At e J

7Y TR R S5 9E A B g T i B
BERCHKIELBEREBETAEBEH —F
F A M 19 7 o BB R R 2 —
#4)

A s S ot T U5 5 BE (B RT AS) ) W A
B 55 i ok 2 R 25 5 5% LA AR A T o BB R A e
S B 407 8 0 IO A 9 PR 0 R A AR
i JF U B B (B &AL B E A R R
S o R IE % S A I O Y R E (1)
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A B AL R E AR R A R
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NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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APPLICATION OF NEW

AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs applied in the

current year (Continued)

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) Consolidated and

separate financial statements

The application of HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) has
resulted in changes in the Group’s accounting policies
for changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries of the

Group.

Specifically, the revised Standard has affected the
Group’s accounting policies regarding changes in the
Group’s ownership interests in its subsidiaries that
do not result in loss of control. In prior years, in the
absence of specific requirements in HKFRSs, increases in
interests in existing subsidiaries were treated in the same
manner as the acquisition of subsidiaries, with goodwill
or a bargain purchase gain being recognised, when
appropriate. In prior years, for decreases in interests in
existing subsidiaries that did not involve a loss of control,
the difference between the consideration received and
the adjustment to the non-controlling interests was
recognised in profit or loss. Under HKAS 27 (as revised
in 2008), all such increases or decreases are dealt with in

equity, with no impact on goodwill or profit or loss.

When control of a subsidiary is lost as a result of a
transaction, event or other circumstance, the revised
Standard requires the Group to derecognise all assets,
liabilities and non-controlling interests at their
carrying amounts and to recognise the fair value of the
consideration received. Any retained interest in the
former subsidiary is recognised at its fair value at the
date control is lost. The resulting difference between the
proceeds, if any, and these adjustments is recognised as a

gain or loss in profit or loss.

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE X ——F=H=1T—HIEHEE

H Bt
)
)

H{*‘rﬁ:

Et
Sz
e
O o

EWw

)3
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—_
|
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A A BEBR A0 BT BT M R RT A v
W R o4y

T T R FE27 9 (= FFNEBEGT) 4
7 B Y A

8P 7 i g IR RIS 27 5% (=B E BT
M FOA S I LR R 7)@?%%%@ i B)
Y A 45 [ & whEOR A BT R o

H TS > AT e I B 5 2 A 4 [ AE
N S A i RE B I DL R I R A | BT A
HEHE 25 52 ) 19 A< 48 [ & 5T BOOR o A DA R AR
BE > AE A Us IS B R 3 e B AfE AR E Y
UL o R BLA M E A AR RE 25 B di B
e 8 BT JBS 2 ) A AR TRD oK Sl e R
Hp T R R A B A A (D ) o A DA AR
AR RN A R T 2 2 I RE A i 3R A Bt
J& 5w R 55 WD o IR 4R 5 AP ORE RR T Ui
A {5 B 5 I 42 AR 25 AF o 0 R 22 T A 22
B oo AR IEAE S R E B 2798 (S FFF
BHT) > B A a% 5 38 0 s ik D 35 78 HE 25 0 i
o AR B R R A o

DS R G SN LR RVATTR XS 81 S
Wi Jag 2> w1 Y 42 ol HE BRF KRB RTVE IR E -
A S T JEC AR IR ke R 4 FG R T (R 8 MR 9 BT A
B AR IR B AR o 3 A RE BT i
ARAR B 2 SR o % i B B 2% W B AT T £
P M i 9 L S e K 1 U HE Y A R B
AR o B A5 3K JH (A0 A) Bl 55 98 f% 2 [ &
A 2 B 1R AR T HERR S AL o
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE _F——F=H=1T—HILFEF

725

APPLICATION OF NEW

AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs applied in the

current year (Continued)

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) Consolidated and

separate financial statements (Continued)

These changes have been applied prospectively from
1 April 2010 in accordance with the relevant transitional

provisions.

The revised Standard has been applied to account for the
Group’s disposal of part of its interests in D & M Finance
Limited (“D & M”) and Terra Solar Global Taiwan
Holdings Limited (“Taiwan Terra Solar”). The change
in accounting policy has resulted in the difference of
HK$4,115,000 between the fair value of the retained
interest of Taiwan Terra Solar at the date control is lost
of HK$4,115,000 and the derecognised assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of Taiwan Terra Solar
with nil carrying amounts being recognised directly
in profit or loss. Therefore, the change in accounting
policy has resulted in a decrease in the loss for the year
of HK$4,115,000, an increase in interests in associates of
HK$4,115,000 and a decrease in the loss per share from
continuing and discontinued operations of HK$0.06 cent
for the year. In the opinion of the directors, the carrying
amounts of the retained interest of D & M approximate
to the fair value, and no material effect is noted on the
disposal of D & M.

Results of the Group in future periods may be affected
by future transactions for which HKAS 27 (as revised in
2008) and the consequential amendments to the other
HKFRSs are applicable.
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NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW

AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs applied in the

current year (Continued)

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) Consolidated and

separate financial statements (Continued)

In addition, under HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008), the
definition of non-controlling interest has been changed.
Specifically, under the revised Standard, non-controlling
interest is defined as the equity in a subsidiary not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to a parent. Previously,
such share options reserve was presented separately in
the consolidated statement of financial position and

consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The application of the revised Standard has affected the
allocation of the Group’s total comprehensive expense of
a subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests in the current year.
Prior to 1 April 2010, losses applicable to the non-
controlling interests in excess of the non-controlling
interests in the subsidiary’s equity were allocated against
the interests of the Group except to the extent that the
non-controlling interests had a binding obligation and
were able to make an additional investment to cover the
losses. Since 1 April 2010, losses applicable to the non-
controlling interests are attributed to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling

interests having a deficit balance.

This change in policy has resulted in an additional
recognition of total comprehensive expense to the non-
controlling interests of approximately HK$1,089,000
and a corresponding decrease in the total comprehensive
expense attributable to the owners of the Company.
A decrease in the loss per share from continuing and
discontinued operations of HK$0.02 cent for the year has

resulted from this change in policy.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
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NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= o Wl B W % W &t

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE _F——F=H=1T—HILFEF

2. APPLICATION OF NEW 2. RERWET K& 1@%@%%%%&
AND REVISED HONG KONG o7 e S (T A 9 S 85 i o e 10 1)
FINANCIAL REPORTING (#44)

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs applied in the A AE BEBR A0 0 P 5T B AR T U
current year (Continued) 5 ek M o)

Summary of the effects of the above changes in b gl S B O S B 2 5 BN B

accounting policies

The effects of changes in accounting policies described el T B A ) AR AR B SE AR v RS B (4K
above on the results for the year by line item are as I IEEH 25) R

follows:

—2——x
HK$’000
Tt
Increase in gain on disposal of part of interest in o A B B A ) 2 T i
a subsidiary JIT 45 Wiz £ 38
Decrease (increase) in the loss for the year JRE A A 4F 3 I 18 ek
attributable to: (3 Jm) -
Owners of the Company NN 8
Non-controlling interests I 1 B A 15
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NoTEs TO THE CONSOLIDATED

2. APPLICATION OF NEW
AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs applied in the

current year (Continued)

Summary of the effects of the above changes in

accounting policies (Continued)

The effects of the above changes in accounting policies
on the financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2011 is as follows:

2. BRI AT B KB AT A ok B i
o7 e S (T A 9 S 5 i o e 10 1)
(#)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o Wl B W % W st

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE _F——F=H=1T—HILEE

A AE B BR A0 0 B 5T I SRR ET A s
W R o4y

bk et BORE B 2 B ()

R B B B
SHE R ZHMBRRZ BB T

Asat 31.3.2011
(before
adjustments

from changes

5o
o~
=
ey
=
>
al

in accounting As at 31.3.2011
policies) Adjustments (adjusted)
/A S 0
=H=1+—H /A S S
O 7 5t B3R =H=+—8H
5% B) 2 i B i ) i 2% (5% %)
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T T T T T T
Total effect on net assets ST V(R 1) 5 2 AR
Interests in associates A B 8 2 T B RE 4 - 4,115 4,115
Equity attributable to owners ENYNEIN ) R
of the Company HE 25 463,179 5,204 468,383
Non-controlling interests I 12 B HE 4 = (1,089) (1,089)
Total effect on equity EHHE 25 2 5 28 M AR 463,179 4,115 467,294
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE _F——F=H=1T—HILFEF

2. APPLICATION OF NEW 2. JER BT K BEGTH M EH
AND REVISED HONG KONG LR ([HFHMEREEN])
FINANCIAL REPORTING (4#)

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

A AE B BR A0 0 B 5T I SRR ET A s
W R o4y

bt SR A A A A BE S A AR A (i)
Frf R0 8 2EH R(ii) R B EH MO &k
RERBNEGREABHEEBNT

New and revised HKFRSs applied in the

current year (Continued)

The effects of the above changes in accounting policies
on the Group’s basic loss per share from (i) continuing
operations and (ii) continuing and discontinued

operations for the current year are as follows:

HERAFBMEZEHFEMORILEEEZHEN
B Jie 2 A s 48 1 R

Impact on basic loss per share from continuing and

discontinued operations

Impact on basic
Impact on basic loss per share
loss per share from continuing

from continuing and discontinued

-
1)
=
=
—
9P
O
Z
-
—_
o
e
>~
O
ad
)
4
)

operations operations
R A 7
Rk B 5 BRI
TR EAEE A E
I 5 B I 5 B
2011 2011
R4 R
HK cents HK cents
sl Il
Figures before adjustments o e mi 8 (2.81) (2.72)
Adjustments arising from changes in the 7 £ [H] 14 B S R A B
Group’s accounting policies in relation to:  1fij & 42 B A DL R TE H #5735 -
— changes in ownership interests — Bt 2 D BT A RE RE A
in subsidiaries 5% @l 0.06 0.06
— allocation of total comprehensive — A TR 25 AR AR O i &
income to non-controlling interests JE 1 B HE 25 0.02 0.02
Figures after adjustments i B 1% B (2.73) (2.64)
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APPLICATION OF NEW

AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs

issued in 2010!

HKERS 7 Disclosures — Transfers of
(Amendments) financial assets?

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments’

HKAS 12 Deferred tax: Recovery of
(Amendments) underlying assets*

HKAS 24 (as revised in ~ Related party disclosures’
2009)

HK(IFRIC) — INT 14 Prepayments of a minimum
(Amendments) funding requirement’

HK(IFRIC) — INT 19

Extinguishing financial
liabilities with equity

instruments®

Amendments that all effective for accounting periods beginning on
or after 1 July 2010 or 1 January 2011, as appropriate.

Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011.
Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012.
Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011.
Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010.

o v o W o~

HKEFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (as issued in November
2009) introduces new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9:
“Financial instruments” (as revised in November
2010) adds requirements for financial liabilities and for

derecognition.

For the year ended 31 March 2011
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE _F——F=H=1T—HILFEF

725

APPLICATION OF NEW

AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

Under HKFRS 9, all recognised financial assets that are
within the scope of HKAS 39 “Financial instruments:
Recognition and measurement” are subsequently
measured at either amortised cost or fair value.
Specifically, debt investments that are held within
a business model whose objective is to collect the
contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal outstanding are generally measured
at amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting
periods. All other debt investments and equity
investments are measured at their fair values at the end

of subsequent accounting periods.

In relation to financial liabilities, the significant change
relates to financial liabilities that are designated as at fair
value through profit or loss. Specifically, under HKFRS
9, for financial liabilities that are designated as at fair
value through profit or loss, the amount of change in the
fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to
changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented in
other comprehensive income, unless the presentation
of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in
other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair
value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk are
not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Previously,
under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the change in the
fair value of the financial liability designated as at fair

value through profit or loss was presented in profit or loss.
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NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW

AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

HKERS 9 is effective for accounting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2013, with earlier application
permitted. The directors anticipate that HKFRS 9 that
will be adopted in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for financial year ending 31 March 2014.
Based on the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities as at 31 March 2011, the application of this
new Standard is expected to affect the classification
and measurement of the Group’s available-for-sale
investments. However, it is not practicable to provide a
reasonable estimate of the effect until a detailed review

has been completed.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the other new and revised HKFRSs issued
but not yet effective, listed above, will have no material

impact on the consolidated financial statements.

In addition to the above the HKICPA issued the

following new and revised standards on 24 June 2011.

HKFRS 10 Consolidated financial
statements

HKEFRS 11 Joint arrangements

HKEFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in other
entities

HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement

HKAS 27 (as revised in ~ Separate financial statements

2011)
HKAS 28 (asrevised in  Investments in associates and
2011) joint ventures

o Wl B W % W st

For the year ended 31 March 2011
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE _F——F=H=1T—HILFEF

725

APPLICATION OF NEW

AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

These new or revised standards are mandatorily effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
Early application is permitted. However, excluding
HKERS 13, if an entity chooses to apply any of the other
five new or revised standards early, it must apply all five
at the same time. The directors anticipate these standards
will be adopted in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the period beginning 1 April 2013. The
directors have not yet had an opportunity to consider the

potential impact of the adoption of these standards.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain
financial instruments, which are measured at fair value,

as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the SEHK and by the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is
achieved where the Company has the power to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to

obtain benefits from its activities.
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NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income from the effective date of
acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as

appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with those used by other members of the

Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and

expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s

equity therein.

Allocation of total comprehensive income to non-

controlling interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. Prior to
1 April 2010, losses applicable to the non-controlling
interests in excess of the non-controlling interests in the
subsidiary’s equity were allocated against the interests of
the Group except to the extent that the non-controlling
interests had a binding obligation and were able to make

an additional investment to cover the losses.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
ME_LX—— 4 A =+ —HIEEE

G2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries on or after 1 April 2010

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in

equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and
(ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any
non-controlling interests. Where certain assets of the
subsidiary are measured at fair values and the related
cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity are accounted for
as if the Company had directly disposed of the related
assets (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
directly to retained earnings). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39
“Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement”
or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an

investment in an associate.
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NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries prior to 1 April 2010

Increases in interests in existing subsidiaries were treated
in the same manner as the acquisition of subsidiaries,
with goodwill or a bargain purchase gain being
recognised where appropriate. For decreases in interests
in subsidiaries, regardless of whether the disposals would
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries,
the difference between the consideration received and
the adjustment to the non-controlling interests was

recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations

Business combinations that took place from 1 April
2005 to 31 March 2010

Acquisition of businesses was accounted for using
the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition was
measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of
exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed,
and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly
attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
that meet the conditions for recognition were recognised

at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition was recognised as an asset
and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost
of the business combination over the Group’s interest in
the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment,
the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
exceeded the cost of the business combination, the excess

was recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree
was initially measured at the minority’s proportion of
the net fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent

liabilities recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses and is
presented separately in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
acquisition. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment annually,
and whenever there is an indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
financial year, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before the
end of that financial year. When the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the unit first, and then to the other assets of the unit pro
rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised
directly in profit or loss in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. An impairment loss recognised

for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On subsequent disposal of the relevant cash-generating
unit, the attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or

loss on disposal.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the investor has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial and operating
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint

control over those policies.

Annual Report 2011 4F #

3.

FRG R BOR )

[k o

Wi S 6 5 ey E A B9 T B DA SOAS BAE AT 2R T
90 (E M TR ARSI AR BB IR DL 3K P
SLEF o

A B BT B B E A A R )
Tic 2 53 WY R s S ) T [ 2 A T A A A9
18 A B B < 7 A B Ao B 2 R B e A B o
T o TC v R B0 B R AR AL | AR AT
B - SR A BE 5 BUR 5% B0 W] RE ) Bl
98 (L IR A A 98B 0 Al o AL 2 — B B4R B
A AT WS I R R TR o M 7 R
i B 4 AR B R R B B4 A5 R O
A7 (B Bk o i B 4 A B G mT i [E]
DT L AR T R > ) 8 (E R 1R O R AT
Al 23 e %2 5% B (0L B 7R RO BR T > PR R
B0 o TECE R T (R Y B B0 B B
7 9 b B o 7 R (E R TR Y B E R
AR A AT A R PR i A RERD o B AERD
V4 R Bl (L M 4R S S A AR S T 488 [ o

RS B 4 o A B LB B > A
fle 0 7 T 1 4 A0S M o 5 40026 4 0
AR -

T BB oy ) 4R

BEAAEREERSLEAEREBIN
N > HNJE 2 ] B B A A
M c EAREBOIEAMSHELEH RN
S 5 B K R > fH 3 % S UM I 4
HE 8 A [ 42 i HE



NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

The result and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity
method, investments in associates are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associates, less any identified impairment loss. When the
Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds
its interest in that associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. An additional
share of losses is provided for and a liability is recognised
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of

that associate.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment,

is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of

the Group’s interest in the relevant associate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration

received or receivable and represents amounts receivables

for services provided in the normal course of business, net

of discount.

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that economic

benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue

and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, on the

following basis:

(i)

(it)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Fees from financial advisory services including
investment advisory fee, referral fee and
placement fee are recognised when the relevant

services are rendered.

Interest income is recognised on a time-
proportion basis using the effective interest
method.

Revenue from long-term service contracts in
respect of photovoltaic business is recognised
according to the percentage of completion of
individual contracts at the end of the reporting

period.

Consultancy service income is recognised when

the services are rendered.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to

receive payment is established.
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NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Long-term service contracts

Where the outcome of a long-term service contract can
be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised
by reference to the stage of completion of the contract
activity at the end of the reporting period, as measured
by the proportion that contract costs incurred for work
performed to date bear to the estimated total contract
costs. Variations in contract work, claims and incentive
payments are included to the extent that they have been

agreed with the customer.

Where the outcome of a long-term service contract
cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is
recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred that
it is probable that will be recoverable. Contract costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they

are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed
total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised in

profit or loss immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings,
the surplus is shown as an amount due from customers
for contract work. For contracts where progress billings
exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as an
amount due to customers for contract work. Amounts
received before the related work is performed are included
in the consolidated statement of financial position, as a
liability, as advances received. Amounts billed for work
performed but not yet paid by the customer are included
in the consolidated statement of financial position under

trade receivables.

o Wl B W % W s
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated

impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment over their estimated
useful lives and after taking into account their estimated
residual value, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
methods are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any change in estimate accounted for

on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is
included in the profit or loss in the period in which the

item is derecognised.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date

(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated

useful lives.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset are measured at the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and are recognised in profit or loss in the period

when the asset is derecognised.
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NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets
to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated to determine the impairment loss, if any.
An impairment loss is recognised in the profit or loss

immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in

the profit or loss immediately.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-

out method.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified

as operating leases.
The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive
to enter into an operating lease are recognised as a
reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a

straight-line basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of

historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
entities are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HKD) at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the end of the reporting period, and their income and
expenses are translated at the average exchange rates
for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (the
translation reserve). Such exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the

foreign operation is disposed of.
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NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

From 1 April 2010 onwards, on the disposal of a foreign
operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a
disposal involving loss of joint control over a jointly
controlled entity that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over an
associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect
of that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss. In addition, in
relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals
(i.e. partial disposals of associates or jointly controlled
entities that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit

or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale are added
to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from borrowing costs eligible

for capitalisation.

All other borrowings costs are recognised as finance costs

in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an

expense in the year in which it is incurred.

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an

expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase
of an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of

the following have been demonstrated:

o the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use
or sale;

o the intention to complete the intangible asset
and use or sell it;

o the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

o how the intangible asset will generate probable

future economic benefits;

o the availability of adequate technical, financial
and other resources to complete the development
and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

o the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its

development.

The amount initially recognised for an internally-
generated intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure
incurred from the date when the intangible asset first
meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no
internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is charged to profit or loss in

the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, an internally-generated
intangible asset is measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any),

on the same basis as intangible assets acquired separately.
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NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
state-managed retirement benefit scheme are charged as
expenses when employees have rendered service entitling

them to the contributions.

Equity-settled share-based payment

The fair value of services received determined by
reference to the fair value of share options granted at the
grant date is recognised as an expense in full at the grant
date when the share options granted vest immediately,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share option

reserve).

For those share options granted which do not vest
immediately, the fair value of services received
determined by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding

increase in equity (share option reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of options that are expected
to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to the

share option reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in the share option reserve
will be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in the share option reserve will be transferred

to accumulated losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax

currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
because it excludes items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years, and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at

the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences, and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects

neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in

the foreseeable future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the year when the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period. The measurement of
deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at
the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax
is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to
items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in

equity respectively.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
on the consolidated statement of financial position
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and
financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or

financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are available-for-sale
financial assets, financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and loans and receivables.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the

marketplace.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount

on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest
basis for debt instruments other than those financial
assets classified as at FVTPL, of which interest income is

included in net gains or losses.
Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives
that are either designated or not classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and

receivables or held-to-maturity investments.

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have
a quoted market price in an active market and whose
fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at
cost less any identified impairment loss at the end of the
reporting period (see accounting policy on impairment of

financial assets below).
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NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL are financial assets
held for trading.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near future; or

o it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial
instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and

effective as a hedging instrument.

At the end of the reporting period subsequent to initial
recognition, financial assets at FVTPL are measured
at fair value, with changes in fair value arising from
remeasurement recognised directly in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or

interest earned on the financial assets.
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. At the end of the reporting period
subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade and other receivables and deposits, loan
receivable and bank balances and cash) are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy

on impairment of financial assets below).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those FVTPL, are assessed
for indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting
period. Financial assets are impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial

assets have been impacted.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment
below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of

impairment.
Objective evidence of impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

o default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial assets such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment
in a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment
for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s
past experience of collecting payments, an increase
in the number of delayed payments beyond the credit
period of 90 days or observable changes in national or
local economic conditions that correlate with default on

receivables.
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NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there
is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is
measured at the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the original effective interest

rate.

For available-for-sale equity investments which are
measured at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return
for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not

be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced
by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets
with the exception of trade and other receivables, where
the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit or
loss. When trade and other receivables are considered
uncollectible, they are written off against the allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously

written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would

have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance
of the contractual arrangements entered into and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity

instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the

financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest

basis.
Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
and amount due to a shareholder are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.
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NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Effective interest method (Continued)
Warrants

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled by
other than a fixed amount of cash for a fixed number of
the Company’s own equity instruments are derivative
financial instruments. Warrants classified as derivative
financial instruments are recognised at their fair values
at the date of issue. Changes in fair values in subsequent

periods are recognised through profit or loss.

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled by a
fixed amount of cash for a fixed number of the Company’s
own equity instruments are equity instruments. The net
proceeds received from the issue of warrants is recognised
in equity (warrant reserve). The warrant reserve will be
transferred to share capital and share premium accounts
upon the exercise of the warrants. When the warrants
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in the warrant reserve will be

transferred to accumulated losses.
Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded

at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial assets. On derecognition of a financial asset,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable and
the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity

is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or

loss.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed

below.
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o Wl B W % W s

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated allowance for obsolete inventories

In prior years, the Group acquired certain photovoltaic
hardware and equipment from Chinese United
Semiconductor Equipment Manufacturing Inc.
(“CUSEM?”) as the compensation for the settlement
of part of the amounts due from CUSEM. The Group
classified these photovoltaic hardware and equipment
as inventories. As the inventories were manufactured
by CUSEM for a particular production specification,
they were not compatible to the needs of the Group’s
own customers. During the year ended 31 March 2010,
the management of the Group held negotiations with
a number of potential customers for the sale of these
inventories, but none of the negotiations were successful.
The management of the Group have therefore, concluded
that it might not be probable that the inventories can be
sold to other customers in the foreseeable future. As such,
full allowance for obsolete inventories of HK$66,728,000
was provided for the year ended 31 March 2010.

Estimated impairment of intangible assets
and goodwill

As at 31 March 2011, the carrying amount of
intangible assets and goodwill are HK$67,943,000
and HK$36,592,000 (2010: HK$82,001,000 and
HK$36,592,000) respectively. Determining whether
intangible assets and goodwill are impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
units to which the intangible assets and goodwill have
been allocated. The directors of the Company have
taken into account the signed sales contracts on hand
as well as the sales contracts expected to be signed in
the foreseeable future to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and used
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may arise. Details of

the impairment test are disclosed in note 22.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s

overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the

Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure on a semi-annual basis. As part of this
review, the directors consider the cost of capital and
the risks associates with each class of capital. Based
on recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the issue of

new shares as well as the issue of new debt.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

5,

A K A B

A AR 0B ARG B S AR 95 i 7 B B 4n
] A1 foe (1 7 o e DR A 4 B0 AR AT R
MRS 2 8% o I0 A PR A B OK [ R o A
4 [ B S B R AR AR o

AEBMYEARMUTRE LB SEHEY
B A o m) oA HE 4 (4 © B AT A
fitifhi) -

AAFERGLERGEAREE AR
W EHEEEEARRA KBS HE
AR o AEEGREEFHER
A B AT BT B B AT 4 U7 U P Al
WAL

& T H
<&l B % 28 00

2011 2010
S e = =
HK$’000 HK$°000
T# T T
Financial assets & Rl &
Loan and receivables (including cash and 57 35 S ME Ut 3 I (6145 3 4
cash equivalents) KB4 %8 111,636 266,896
Held-for-trading investments REEERE 17,817 16,962
Available-for-sale investments CIRENR = 15,038 11,625
Financial liabilities o =E
Amortised cost T B B AS 18,716
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NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s financial instruments include available-
for-sale investments, loan receivable, trade and other
receivables and deposits, held-for-trading investments,
bank balances and cash, trade and other payables and an
amount due to a shareholder. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a

timely and effective manner.
Market risk

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to
market risks or the manner in which it manages and

measures the risk.
Currency risk

The directors consider that the Group’s exposure to
foreign currency exchange risk is insignificant as more
than 99% of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities are denominated in HKD or United States
dollar (“USD”). As HKD is pegged to USD, the Group
does not expect any significant movements in the HKD/
USD exchange rates.

The directors consider that the sensitivity of the Group’s
exposure towards the change in foreign exchange rates is
minimal in view of insignificant movement in the HKD/
USD exchange rates and insignificant exposure of other

foreign currencies as at the end of the reporting period.

o Wl B W % W s
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Fair value interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to its fixed-rate bank deposit (see note 32 for
details).

The interest rate risk on bank deposits is limited for both

years because of their short maturity.
Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates to the

bank balances which are carried at variable interest rate.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy. However, the management will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need

arise.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management

section of this note.
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative
financial instruments. For variable-rate bank balances,
the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of asset and
liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period

was outstanding for the whole year.

100 basis points (2010: 100 basis points) is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in interest rates of the

variable-rate bank balances.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Cash flow interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If interest rates had been 100 basis points (2010: 100 basis
points) higher and all other variables were constant, the
Group’s loss for the year would decrease by approximately
HK$931,000 (2010: HK$2,651,000), which was mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on
its variable-rate bank balances. No sensitivity analysis is
prepared for the downside of the interest rate as the risk

of further decrease on bank interest rate is limited.
Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk in relation to

held-for-trading investments.

For held-for-trading investments, the management
manages the exposure by maintaining a portfolio of

investments with different risks.
Sensitivity analysis

If the market quoted bid price of the held-for-trading
investments had been 5% higher/lower while all other
variables were held constant, the loss for the year ended
31 March 2011 would decrease/increase by HK$891,000
(2010: decrease/increase by HK$848,000).

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent market risk as the year
end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the

year.
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2011, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which may causes a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to perform an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group has significant concentration of credit risk in
respect of an amount due from a customer for contract
work of HK$218,305,000 (2010: HK$43,887,000) and
other receivables, especially for consideration receivable
from a buyer of a disposed subsidiary of HK$10,075,000
(2010: nil), and loan receivable due from a third party of
HK$5,000,000 (2010: nil).

As at 31 March 2011, the amount due from a customer
for contract work of HK$218,305,000 comprised of only
one customer, Mr. Yeung Ngo (“Mr. Yeung”), who was
appointed as an executive director of the Company on 28
March 2011. The Group assesses the financial strength
and ability for repayment of Mr. Yeung by reviewing the
value of his major assets. In the opinion of the directors,
based on the value of Mr. Yeung’s assets and the close
business and working relationship with Mr. Yeung, the

risk of non-recoverability of the amount due is minimal.

The consideration receivable from the buyer of a disposed
subsidiary of HK$10,075,000 is repayable within 180 days
from the date of disposal. The Group executes continuous
monitoring procedures and ensures that follow-up actions
are taken to ensure settlement of the consideration

receivable from the buyer.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

For the loan receivable due from a third party of
HK$5,000,000, the Group assesses the financial
strength of the borrower by reviewing its latest financial
information and executes continuous monitoring
procedures and ensures that follow-up actions are taken
to ensure the borrower could settle the loan receivable
upon the Group’s request. In this regard, the Group

considers the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has a concentration of credit risk on liquid
funds deposited with a few major banks. However,
the credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the

counterparties are banks with good reputation.
Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of

fluctuations in cash flows.

As at 31 March 2011 and 2010, the Group’s financial
liabilities are repayable on demand or within 3 months.
Listed warrants issued by the Company are not included
in the liquidity risk analysis as they do not have cash flow

impact on the consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2011
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Fair value

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined as follows:

o the fair values of financial assets with standard
terms and conditions and traded on active liquid
markets are determined with reference to quoted
market bid prices; and

o the fair values of other financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

Financial instruments that are measured subsequent
to initial recognition at fair value can be grouped into
Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value
is observable.

o Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market
for identical assets or liabilities.

. Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

o Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived
from valuation techniques that include inputs
for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The Group’s held-for-trading investments are classified
as Level 1 fair value measurement based on the above
classification.

Annual Report 2011 4F #

kT H )

A
B T T LR A S A E AT

. 32 M e A R R A L BT 9 B A
HHELsMemMEEN N REE
T35 2% WA R 2 5 )

. Hofth < i & & K& Bl A BN RE
EHEAREBMLN . DA R &R
T E

T F AR S AR T B AR DA S A R B
i 5 Al E K B R R MR T (B A
EEAME -

TAR B I B A L T B A9 2 70 (6 (6 Tl

MERERRIEAAEEFTENEM TR
REAAREENATBEEES S 2= -

. BEoanEEE)AMEEE
B R I B T G B ORI -

. 5 0 o o B E SR T BREE — P
BRI R E S ZEE AR
B By A (B > AT 2 H B (R %)
B B (A AR ATAE) -

. 5= s e EE R TR A EF AL
AR YR R BLEE T 4G Wi (IR LA Y
A H) B E SR R R Al (E D7 %15
'-,:H o

R LS AEBNFFERERED
BRSE— A REERE -



NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o Wl B W % W s

REVENUE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
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Continuing operations R R T
Long-term service contract of JEAR ZE TR A IR 5
photovoltaic business HH

2011 2010
g EEESEEE
HK$’000 HK$°000
Tt SR
174,418 460,117

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The directors of the Company, being the chief operating
decision maker (“CODM?”), make the decision of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on the Group’s profit for the year based on the

following operating segments:

Photovoltaic —  Development and manufacturing
business of solar cells, modules and
panels for generating solar
electric power
Strategic —  Participation in primary and
investments secondary securities market

The organisation of the Group is also based on the above
two segments. Further, the CODM does not review
segment assets and liabilities. Accordingly, no segment

analysis is presented other than entity-wide disclosures.

Operations regarding the financing segment and capital
market activities (previously part of the strategic
investments segment) were discontinued in the
current year. The segment information reported below
does not include any amounts for this discontinued
operation, which are described in more detail in note 14.
Accordingly, the segment revenue and results for the year
ended 31 March 2010 as set out below have been restated

to exclude the amounts for the discontinued operations.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION 8.
(Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and

results by operating and reportable segments:

2011

Continuing operations

REVENUE A

Revenue A

RESULTS E ¥

Segment results e

Other income, gains and losses HAtlle A~ i 4 K s 18

Share of result of associates Rl k- /NEIE S

Unallocated corporate expenses 7 43 e AR 3 BH 32

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries H S i A m) R A

Loss before taxation from RH RS RN
continuing operations % B il JEs 48

Annual Report 2011 4F #

ZgiN g iy y

PATF Z A% 4 I % 26 05 I m] 52 i 40 B 8 20 19
WA B SERT AT

—F

Photovoltaic Strategic
business investments Consolidated
AR B SR W T 4R B A
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
5t T T

174,418 174,418

(92,079) (92,938)

14
(265)
(114,769)
15,552

(192,406)
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. HEPEBL )
(Continued)

2010 (restated) ZE-REKEL)

Continuing operations RERBEER %
Photovoltaic Strategic G
business investments Consolidated Yy
FARETE AR T <
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$000
T 0 T T T T %
REVENUE KA
Revenue A 460,117 - 460,117 %
RESULTS E 3
Segment results 5y AR (90,540) 5,856 (84,684) ﬁ
Other income, gains and losses oAb A~ i fs K G 1 75
Change in fair value of derivative 1A 4l T2
financial instruments N RAEEEE) 427 ﬁ
Reversal of allowance of an amount i it — 44 B %5 4\ 7
due from the majority shareholder & B% B 2 J& 5§ [u] \
of an associate 5 5 4,089 b(v
Unallocated corporate expenses R 43 B A 2 B 32 (5,513)
Finance costs Bl & R AR (289) ul
Loss before taxation from Ao HER AR B
continuing operations I o T g 15 (85,895)
Note:  The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same FiHgE © AT 2 R4 #50Y €r wh BOSR B T 3 v i ke Ak 4R
as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. Segment B 5 BOR AR [R] o 43 0 3 45 48 4% 43 #RAE K 43 T
results represent the profit or loss earned by each segment HoAbde A~ diti Rl 8 - AT AR R B A AR
without allocation of other income, gains and losses, change 2B ~ M i — 42 B 8 2 A K B 3R 3 T 43 [
in fair value of derivative financial instruments, reversal of B~ R AR KR 4y Bl R SR AT B BE S A DL
allowance of an amount due from the majority shareholder of an T Bk A5 1 Y R SRS 1R o M6 TS A AT TR 4 I K
associate, finance costs and unallocated central administration WA 43 45 3% B M 2 R 7 =X o

cost. This is the measure reported to the directors for the
purpose of resource allocation and performance assessments.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. HEPEBL )
(Continued)
Other segment information H At 43 5B & B
Amounts included in the measure of segment results or FrESHELAL ST EECTAR T & ¢

segment assets:

Photovoltaic business Strategic investments Segment total Unallocated Total
Jeth B SRR g b it AR At

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
cg—r BESEIElx- v BESEI - BRIl -3 BRIl -z BESEds
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000

Sl i QRN i EEERTE i EEESTE v QRN i

Net (loss) gain on financial 4 T2 A9 (548)
instruments W4 1 A (859) (859) 6,283
Depreciation of property, — #13% K5 & ki
plant and equipment iy (33) (1) (33) (207) (259)
Amortisation of intangible TV, & i
assets B (14,058) (14,038) (14,058) (14,058) (14,058) (14,058)
Allowance for bad and T i sk &
doubtful debts - trade and At FE Ut FA

-
1)
=
=
—
9P
O
Z
-
—_
o
e
>~
O
ad
)
4
)

other receivables TR (7,750) (7,750) (7,750)
Allowance for obsolete W&

inventories B (66,728) (66,728) (66,728)
Additions to property, VER VT

plant and equipment NE 56
Revenue from major services FEERBBRA

2011 2010
—z——r [EEEE
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# T oo
Continuing operations T A8 K8 2
Manufacturing of production lines for 75 K B e 145 75 A
solar panels M A 174,418 460,117
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SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about a major customer

Revenues from manufacturing of production lines for
solar panels were solely derived from a People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”) customer. During the year, the
contract was transferred to a director of the Company

(Note 40(b)).

The customer is principally engaged in the production
of solar panels and the revenue from the customer is
included within the business segment of photovoltaic

business.

Geographical information

The Group’s revenue from continuing operations arises
from the PRC.

As at 31 March 2011, non-current assets of HK$160,000
(2010: HK$243,000) and HK$64,000 (2010: HK$87,000)
were located in Hong Kong and USA respectively.
Goodwill of HK$36,592,000 (2010: HK$36,592,000)
arose from the acquisition of a USA incorporated
subsidiary and the intangible assets of HK$67,943,000
(2010: HK$82,001,000) represent a photovoltaic
technology patent registered in USA which can be

applied for projects on worldwide basis.

Note:  Non-current assets above excluded those relating to
discontinued operations and financial instruments.
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K 5 BE 4 R A AR EE AR Y B A E — A
Bh— A PEARIMBE(HEHDES -
(A R ORI 3 I g NN o (i
40(b)) -

ZEFEERELEERBGRREER KA
W% F WA B s ASGARZEH 1970 3 -

i i 2 R
A% 4 0 19 B AR B R A 1 P B

W E—— 4 = H =+ — H,160,000% JG (—
T — T4 ¢ 243,000 I0) K 64,0009 76 (= F
— EAE 1 87,0009 Ju) 1Y JE i B & = 4 Al A
T s E B e 36,592,000 g6 (& — &
1 36,592,000%5 7T ) #Y B AE B YR — Rk
5 18 5 M ST 1 B 2 F,67,943,000% G (=
Zr— A4 1 82,001,000k 75 ) HY 4 TE & E A A
3 B E i A 3 w] R R A BRIE B 6k

ERE : bt O U B B A (4 B O AR Ok R ST I
fil T B A B A ) A E o
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=
@8 9. OTHER INCOME, GAIN AND 0. MMM - WedE K
l LOSS
m 2011 2010
R4 —E—FA
@ HK$7000 HK$'000
: Tt Tt
H Continuing operations R AE AR 2E T
Interest income from bank balances SRAT &5 B A Bl A 4
Q Dividend income from listed securities R R ) B S U A 19
I Consultancy service income JEEL 19 R 25 e A -
O Net exchange (loss) gain [ 55, (JB548) Uit 5 ¥ A 52
aw -
10. (LOSS) GAIN ON FINANCIAL 10. 4@ T H(EE) Wk
. INSTRUMENTS
@ 2011 2010
m ——— QSRR
HK$’000 HK$°000
6 T T
Z Continuing operations R R T
m Change in fair value of held-for-trading FrEEEBENA REE
investments 5 ) 5,856
Change in fair value of derivative financial 7 4= 4 @l T 5 (19 /A {8 (E
instruments 525 ) 427
6,283
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NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11. STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

o Wl B W % W s

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE-_F——F="H=1T—HIEHEE

11. B THRAR(RHEHHE)

2011 2010
o ] - =
HK$’000 HK$000
Tt Tt
Continuing operations R AE AR 2E T
Salaries, allowances and benefits B4 BN K AE A 8,533 9,145
Share based payment expenses DA R A5 77 25 B A5 K ) B S 11,846 -
Contributions to retirement B KA ) 51 H
benefit schemes it 25 306 510
20,685 9,655
12. FINANCE COSTS 12. BbE AR
2011 2010
e = =
HK$’000 HK$°000
Tt T T
Continuing operations T 78 45 4 2B
Interest on borrowings wholly repayable ZE I 4 A 2R B R Y
within five years i &1 A1) B, 289

13. TAXATION

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profit for both years. No provision
for Hong Kong Profits Tax had been made for the year
ended 2011 and 2010 as the Group’s operations in Hong
Kong had no assessable profits.

No provision for taxation in other jurisdictions was made
in the consolidated financial statements for both years
as the Group’s operations outside Hong Kong had no

assessable profits.

13. BiJH

A5 B0 DL R A Al Rt R
H#16.5%9 Bt R 5t A o R A 28 B R
S5 oK B A RERR B A > BOIE R R —F
AR e R A U M A BLAE R
# o

H TR 7 4R T 7 i DA A M [ ) 3 85 I R
PR R B A o PR U AR E ) AR B B
i 22 300 R 3 H A ®) kB IR 09 BEIE A
'fﬁo
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NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= o Wl B W % W st

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE_F——F=H=1T—HILFE

13. TAXATION (Continued) B I8 (47)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the
loss before taxation from continuing operations per the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as
follows:

AR BT S B AR B B WA R IR B R
AR SR I PR BRI s R A BRI T

2011 2010
R R R
HK$’000 HK$000
T # L Tt
Loss before taxation from continuing A& R AR A8 SE T Y BR B I
operations i 8 (192,406) (85,895)
Taxation at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate % & #& F1] 15 B % 16.5%
of 16.5% (2010: 16.5%) (ZF—F4 1 16.5%) 7HHEM
Bl T8 (31,747) (14,172)
Tax effect of share of result of associates JE A T A N T 1 2 AT ﬁ]%)?/ b 44 -
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AN BT ek B S ) B R 21,714 1,643
Tax effect of non-taxable income FE LB WA 19 B S 5 28 (2,582) (1,069)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised I 114 S M 48 1 B A g 2 12,571 1,309
Tax effect of deductible temporary IR e 52 0 AT 0 e T R 25 Y
differences not recognised Tl 75 5 28 12,289

Tax charge from continuing operations

for the year S

AN B A RS R I BLIE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
estimated unused tax losses and deductible temporary
differences of approximately HK$236,172,000 (2010:
HK$369,376,000) and HK$145,800,000 (2010:
HK$145,800,000) respectively available for offset against
future profits. The deductible temporary differences were
mainly arisen from the allowance for obsolete inventories
and allowance for bad and doubtful debts. No deferred
taxation asset has been recognised in respect of these tax
losses due to unpredictability of future profit streams. The

tax losses may carry forward indefinitely.
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W J6) K& 145,800,000 ¥ UG (= & — F 4
145,800,000 JG) ° AJ 11 %ok B HRF 2= 5L 5 2 [F
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NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group
entered into sale agreements to dispose of two
subsidiaries, D & M and REXCAPITAL (Hong Kong)
Limited (“REXCAPITAL HK”), which were engaged
in capital market activities (provision of capital market
advisory services previously included in the strategic
investment segment) and financing activities (provision
of commercial and personal loans previously shown as a
separate financing segment). The disposals were effected
in order to generate cash flows for the expansion of the
Group’s other businesses. The disposals were completed
on 30 September 2010 and 3 January 2011 respectively,
on which dates control of D & M and REXCAPITAL HK

were passed to the acquirers.

o Wl B W % W s

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE-_F——F="H=1T—HIEHEE

14. DRIEBEER

MNBE_F—-—HE=A=+—HILEE
AREMFT L B E R HEMAMEAA
RPD & MU 2% il & (75 95 ) 4 PR 2w (T 1 %=
RVE D) > %8 W R A Al S & AR T 8 0 B (42
A 2 T 35 5 0 IR (G R AR A SR M R IR R
43R ) R TG B (4R P SE AR N Bk (S
HI B0 A8 ST il ) - BB IE B A
BWEAEBREMEFEANER SR E - H
EHRHECONR -F—FFNAH=THAM
TE - 4E— A = HER > D & MA 25 il
G RE I REC A % B T U Ty -

2011 2010
e = =
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# T T
Loss for the year from discontinued operations € [ B % 15 48 45 2 %5 (1) 4F ¥ 5 48
— Capital market activities —EARTGIES 1,303
— Financing activities — Rl TS ) 8,877
(Gain) loss on disposal of operations of B DA AR SE S E A
(Y £2) s 48
— Financing activities (see Note 35(a)) — FbCE TS B (R EE35(a)) =
— Capital market activities — EART G )
(see Note 35(a)) ( H B 5E35(a)) =
10,180
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NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= o Wl B W % W st

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE_F——F=H=1T—HILFE

14. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 14.
(Continued)

C&RILBE X m

HoZ-FHENH-HEHZFENHEEHR
SIS ] A T 3 A T B SR A (B
ARREEHTAR) ME -

The results of the capital market and financing activities
for the period from 1 April 2010 to their respect dates of
disposal, which have been included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, were as follows:

Capital market activities Financing activities

-
1)
=
=
—
9P
O
Z
-
—_
o
e
>~
O
ad
)
4
)

BARNSEE) & i )
Period ended Year ended Period ended Year ended
03.01.2011 31.03.2010 30.09.2010 31.03.2010
o ] - iF T 3F -z %f
—H=ZH =N WA=+H =ZHA=+—H
1E HI 1R AR JE 159 1k 4
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$000
Fi#x T T T T T
Revenue e A 240 520 = 1,364
Staff costs B T HA (1,304) (974) (1,980) (1,890)
Consultancy expenses i [ e <7 = (120) — -
Other expenses HoAth BH 2 (571) (729) (3,0634) (8,307)
Loss before taxation % Bt il s 18 (1,635) (1,303) (5,614) (8,833)
Taxation BiIE = = = (44)
Loss for the year FEREE (1,303) (5,614) (8,877)
Loss for the year from R E & IE
discontinued operation BB LT AR
includes the follows: e R LA
Bad debt written off I3 0 b B = 149
Operating lease rentals in meEHE
respect of 4
— office premises —WNEYE 1,678 1,678
— other assets - HAh &= ~ 169

D & M Al 78 A A 4% B B B E
B B AR AR T MR B E 35 4 R -

The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of
D & M and REXCAPITAL HK at their respective dates

of disposal are disclosed in note 35.

WBE _F——#=A=+—HIL4£F
D & M A 4 [ i) 58 45 B 4 Ui 2 1 B S A A
28,549,000k I (& — F4E ¢« (i) A 4 M 5 Rk
#728,678,000%5 Jt) - T 1) 2 fil & Ak A 4 [ 1Y
K B 4 U A B WK 942,000 00 (—F
—EAF AT 4332,000% 7T)

During the year ended 31 March 2011, D & M paid
approximately HK$28,549,000 (2010: contributed
approximately HK$28,678,000 to the Group) and
REXCAPITAL HK contributed approximately
HK$42,000 (2010: paid approximately HK$332,000) in

respect of the Group’s net operating cash flows.
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NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o Wl B W % W s

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE-_F——F="H=1T—HIEHEE

15. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 15. 4 W g R

2011 2010
I S g G a2
HK$’000 HK$°000
T 76 T8 m&
Continuing operations R R T
Auditor’s remuneration % S T T 4 <]
— fee _EH 1,900 =
— other service — H At AR S 930
Operating lease rentals in respect of: KEMEHE
— office premises B YNCE 7 2,371
Bad debts written off 552 AR S g 465
Included in the consultancy expenses is HK$22,077,000 L 1) B S 4 2 #522,077,00005 6 (= F — & %
(2010: HK$9,297,000) which was paid for services 419,297,000 J6) 2 B 32 5 B AT A B R
rendered by consultants in investor relationship and e P & 35 B AR A0 AT TE H BR 8 7 T A AR
technical project development. JR 75 BA 3 e
16. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 16. #=FH M & ﬁ
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 12 (2010: eSS T (S B
7) directors were as follows: EHOME 2R WT y\
For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE_-E-—4#=H=1+—HIL%E r
8 Il

Chan Wai Pierre Choi Shek Tam Kam Biu, Henry John Chong Chi
Kwong, Peter Seligman Chau  Yin Tat Man William  OnKienOuoc ~ Behnke I1I YeungNgo  Yang Yuchun JinYan  Choy Tak Ho Wah  Total 2011
Pierre Henry John it
Wikt Seligman KoM REX ABE  OnKinOuce  Behnkelll L] Witk E3 ] 31 g “3-f
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
T#n T Fitx Titx Ti#n Ti#n Ti#n Ti#n T#n T#n Tt Fitx Titx

(Notea) (Note b) (Notec) (Note¢) (Note c) (Note c) (Note ¢)
(CER] (H &tb) (k) (k) (k) (k) (k)
Fees % - - f %40
Other emoluments Rl
Salaries and other benefis 5 & REMARH 1,060
Share-based payment DR B3 B R
expenses e
Contributions to R
retirement benefic =
scheme
Total emoluments MaaH
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@) NoTEs To THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= N 2
A YL
H For the year ended 31 March 2011
- BE_EX——F=H=+—HILHFE
(= 16. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 16. #= FHM & )
l (Continued)
CD For the year ended 31 March 2010 BE _ZE-ZHE=H=+—HIL%¥
@) :
Chan Wai Tam Kam
z Kwong, Pierre  Choi Shek Yin Tat Biu,  OnKien Henry John
' { Peter  Seligman Chau Man William QOuoc Behnke III  Total 2010
Pierre On Kien Henry John At
Q BiZX  Seligman EHM REL 4 Ouoc Behnke Il — & — 4
l HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
Tigr  Flx  TEx  TEx  TEx TEx TExT  TEx
O (Note a) (Note b)
I (Mt &Ea) (WF3ED)
Fees 4 - = 120 80 240 - 440
% Other emoluments HAinM 4
Salaries and other 4 kA
< ) benefits Rl 650 900 - - - 889 3,351
Contributions to B A 51
retirement benefit M
I I l scheme 12 12 = = = = = 24
2 ‘ Total emoluments L 662 912 120 80 240 912 889 3,815
| Notes: [t 5
(a) Mr. Tam Kam Biu, William resigned on 5 May 2011. (a) PSR AR S A A =R — — 4 H A H BT o
(b) Mr. Henry John Behnke III resigned on 28 March 2011. (b) Henry John Behnke III5E 4 & = & — — 4 = H
Z N H BT o
(c) Mr. Yeung Ngo, Mr. Yang Yuchun, Ms. Jin Yan, Mr. Choy Tak (c) I sedE ~ Mk &F ek ~ &Mt - ZEE e
Ho and Mr. Chong Chi Wah were appointed on 28 March AREEFEREER - ——F=H = /N H#
2011. TAE -

T AR A BE > A 4R T M AR 16 A e 3 o S AT AR
Ry T A S T ) A% Y B A 0 P
& o AR > M E FH LTS -

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to any of the directors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
None of the directors has waived any emoluments during

the year.
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NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Of the five highest paid individuals in the Group, three
(2010: three) were directors of the Company whose
emoluments are included in note 16. The emoluments of
the remaining two (2010: remaining two) highest paid

individuals were as follows:

o Wl B W % W s

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE-_F——F="H=1T—HIEHEE

17. BB M &

AEWMImEMeE N Lz ha =6 (0%
—FE ) BALAFER S ALNFEESR
B e C R M RELe o Kk i (= F —F
A HER T B M A LM

2011 2010
e ] = ==
HK$’000 HK$000
T # T T
Salaries and allowances and benefits in kind 37l ~ 7 Y & B 9 Fl %5 815 1,397
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 78 7&K 4 £ 51 & {t K 16 -
Share-based payment expenses DA R A3 77 255 R AF 3K ) Bl 52 9,343 —
10,174 1,397

Their emoluments were within the following bands: 1 % 1) B 45 o R
2011 2010
e ] = ==
No. of No. of
employees employees
fE B A\ % =P
Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 21,000,000 7T 2
HK$5,000,000 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,000 7T £ 5,500,000 5 7C -
2

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to any of the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as

compensation for loss of office.

T T A AR - AR 4 I AR SR ) 7 B R T <
N AT AT A AR 2 A A S
H% ) A e A R P T <
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NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= o Wl B W % W st

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE_F——F=H=1T—HILFE

18. DIVIDENDS 18.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2011 (2010: nil)
and the Company did not pay any interim dividend
during the year (2010: nil).

19. LOSS PER SHARE 19.
For continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of the basic loss per share from
continuing and discontinued operations attributable to

the owners of the Company is based on the following

H&)%

0 R R A E 4 =
S+ —HIEFEERNRE (CE B )
T 74 4 5 7 4 7903 K R A 667 o 350 B (=
T ) -

i s 48
FFEKEEEMOK ISR
A I HHE R 1 A B T P L

1k #8785 S5 09 B i A Jls 4R B9 w5 R R LA
TR

data:
2011 2010
S d = ==
HK$’000 HK$’000
F# T T
Loss for the purpose of basic loss per share i DA 5158 4 A 5 A< 5 16 19 5 48 197,104 92,182
Number of shares
Ji 4 % H
2010
—% e
‘000
Tk
Number of shares Ji& 1 B B
Number of shares for the purpose of FH DAREE A B AR e 5 Y
basic loss per share Ay B H 7,214,524 6,315,523
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NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. LOSS PER SHARE (Continued)
From continuing operations

The calculation of the basic loss per share from
continuing operations attributable to the owners of the

Company is based on the following data:

o Wl B W % W s

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE-_F——F="H=1T—HIEHEE

19. Ik EHE @)
REFEREEY

A% ) R B A S B R AR AR S N A A
BLAS e 18 0 WA R DA B

2011 2010
—z—— [
HK$’000 HK$°000
Tt it
Loss for the year attributable to owners AN A R AL A A
of the Company s 18 197,104 92,182
Less: Loss for the year from discontinued W REBERIEREERN
operations A R (6,414) (10,180)
Loss for the purpose of basic loss per share i DA FH 52K [ 57 48 888 2E W 1)
from continuing operations B J BE AR fis 4H Y s 1R 190,690 82,002

The denominators used are the same as those detailed
above for basic loss per share from continuing and

discontinued operations.

From discontinued operations

The calculation of the basic loss per share from
discontinued operations attributable to the owners of the

Company is based on the following data:

Mt B AR EEH N A LR
5 R AR s 1R S o B 2 B B B3
wE Al H AR

R H B Ik KRB

Ay ) RO BB AL B B C A R R SERS I
it A s 15 RO AR A DA B

2011 2010

e ] v

HK$’000 HK$000

T# T Tt

Loss for the year from discontinued operations 3¢ [ B #¢ 11 48 % SE 75 1 4F )& 5 48 6,414 10,180

Basic loss per share from discontinued

A

operations

BRI E R H R

HKO0.09 cent # fill PSICOBIRS a1

The denominators used are the same as those detailed
above for basic loss per share from continuing and

discontinued operations.

B R IS 9 4 A L A 3
5 06 95 A R 0 T P4 BB L
R I o
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NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= o Wl B W % W st

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE_F——F=H=1T—HILFE

19. LOSS PER SHARE (Continued) 19. &t HE )
REHOKRIEBEER &)

F A AT O AR 28 /B R AT R A0 R HE A A
T B S JBS 2 m) Y TR A B B
B D > BOIE R 23R A SE AN
1k K88 S5 10 15 e o s 1R -

From discontinued operations (Continued)

No diluted loss per share for both continuing and
discontinuing operations are presented, as the exercise of
the Company’s outstanding warrants and share options

as well as the subsidiary’s share options would result in a

-
1)
=
=
—
9P
O
Z
-
—_
o
e
>~
O
ad
)
4
)

decrease in loss per share.

20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 20. W3 - WG Kk
EQUIPMENT
Furniture,
fixtures and office
equipment
IR~ R E R
N
HK$’000
T T
COST BAS
At 1 April 2009 MEEENFENA—H 1,900
Additions N E 56
At 31 March 2010 A_E—-FHFE=H=+—H 1,956
Additions N E 537
Disposals i (=5 (53)
Disposed on disposal of subsidiaries i B A N I R B (1,212)
At 31 March 2011 H o E——F=H=1—H 1,228
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 April 2009 R JAEN A —H 1,367
Provided for the year S TR 259
At 31 March 2010 o FE—FE=ZH=+—H 1,626
Provided for the year EESNE i) 207
Disposals HE (53)
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries R PAE L (776)
At 31 March 2011 AE——FZH=1—H 1,004
CARRYING VALUES W T A
At 31 March 2011 o FE——FE=H=+—H 224
At 31 March 2010 RoF—-FF=A=1+—H 330
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment are depreciated 1AL~ 46 B T RN B R A HR 20%4F R DL HL AR

HRtAITE -

on a straight-line basis at 20% per annum.
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o Wl B W % W s

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE_F——F=H=1T—HILEE

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 21. WIEE
Intellectual
property rights
0k
HK$°000
Tt M
COST JR A S 7
At 1 April 2009, 31 March 2010 and RZEFEAFEMA —H - ZF—F4F -

31 March 2011 “A=t—-HAM=F - 4F=A=1—H 140,575
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION Rt i 3 %
At 1 April 2009 N ZEEIEMNH —H 44,516
Charge for the year TN H 14,058 %
At 31 March 2010 AZE—FFE=H=+—H 58,574
Charge for the year A 14,058 i ‘
At 31 March 2011 W ——®E£=H=+—H 72,632
CARRYING VALUES W T A ﬁ
At 31 March 2011 W oFE——F=H=+—H 67,943
At 31 March 2010 AZE—FFE=H=+—H 82,001 b('
The intangible assets represent certain technologies and TV A E R B8 LA = U R A R IRE ul
intellectual property rights related to the photovoltaic JIT WS S ) BTG AR SE 85 A BR Y A T 0l 0 0 d
business that were acquired on the acquisition of ik EE o A 104 A DA B AR TR RSN o W (E Wt
subsidiaries from independent third parties. They are FE I O B EE22 o

amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of 10
years. Details of the impairment test are set out in note
22.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
ME_LX—— 4 =H =+ —HIEEE
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22. GOODWILL 22. Fi&
HK$’000
T
COST AR
At 1 April 2009 AT REJUAED A —H 65,103
Arising on acquisition of additional interest U5 if§ — Z Bt J& 2\ 7] %5 SE 45 I 2 AR Y
in a subsidiary RS 19,379
At 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2011 A E—FE=H=+—HM
X ——®F=H=+—H 84,482
IMPAIRMENT W AE
At 1 April 2009, 31 March 2010 and REEFENFEMA—H - ZF—F4F
31 March 2011 =H=+—HM_Z——44=H=+—H 47,890
CARRYING VALUES G T
At 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2011 W E—FE=ZH=+—HM _F——4
=A=+—8H 36,592

For the purpose of the impairment test of goodwill and
intangible assets, goodwill and intangible assets have
been allocated to the cash generating unit (“CGU”)

which engaged in photovoltaic business.

The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined
on the basis of value in use calculation. The recoverable
amount is based on the financial budget approved by
management for the next year and extrapolates cash
flows for the following four years based on an estimated
constant growth rate of 12% (2010: 12%). This rate does
not exceed the long-term growth rate for the relevant
markets. The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows
is 19% (2010: 19%). Cash flow projection during the
budget period for the CGU is based on the expected gross
margins during the budget period. Budgeted gross margins
have been determined based on past performance and
management’s expectations for the market development.
In the opinion of the directors, no material impairment
loss is identified as at 31 March 2010 and 2011.

Management believes that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause the
carrying amount of the CGU to exceed its recoverable

amount.
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o Wl B W % W s

23. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE-_F——F="H=1T—HIEHEE

23. JR W 4 A A BE 4R

Cost of unlisted investments, at cost

Share of post-acquisition losses

b A (R A )
JE A5 W5 4% 1 1

2011 2010
R i
HK$’000 HK$000
Tl 6 Tt
11,435 7,320
(7,585) (7,320)

3,850 -

Details of the Group’s associates as at 31 March 2011 and

2010 are as follows:
Form of business  Place of incorporation
Name structure and operation
i R S e

HR EBHRMER REWEH
Taiwan C.S. Energy Corporation Incorporated Taiwan

(“Taiwan CS”)
AT M ARA A ALY A%

=3 £ 230
Taiwan Terra Solar (Note b) Incorporated Taiwan
E VS YN T AL ALY A%
Notes:
(a) Its subsidiary is principally engaged in manufacturing of the

production lines for solar cells, modules and panels.

(b) Taiwan Terra Solar was previously a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Terra Solar Global, Inc. (“TSG”), a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. On 10 January 2011, TSG disposed
its 71% equity interest in Taiwan Terra Solar to an independent
third party (please see note 35(a) for details). On the same
date, the fair value of the retained interest of 29% in Taiwan
Terra Solar was HK$4,115,000, which was accounted for as an
interest in an associate.

WO R CFFE=A=T A
A S B 2 7 RN T

Attributable equity interest held by the Company

AR T i A7 1R A ¢ HE
Directly

Hik

Principal activities

FEEH
Indirectly

fi] #%
2010

—E R

— Investment holding
(Note a)
- BB (B k)

— Development and
manufacturing of glass used in
solar products

- PR RIS e A T
JH B3

ELf i 2 ] e o R R 5 RE TR Rk~ BEAL K
PR AR A A AR o

B K b K [ 8 S AR A JE A A B A T 3R
B Kt K 15 RE S ) (TTSG) W 2 % It g A 7 o
Mo ZE——4—H+ B > TSGI H R & 8 K i
KBGRERI 7L HE th & T B L8 =07 GEf se 2
B B 5E35(a)) o AR — B > R A 8Ok Hh oK [ Ak
29%I1 P B8 HE %5 19 28 SO B (E £ 4,115,000% 7C > £
B B2 A T M 2%
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE_F——F=H=1T—HILFE

23. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 23.
(Continued)

The summarised financial information in respect of the

Group’s associates is set out below:

T BB 2 2 R RY HE A car)
S 8 2% 0 9 S R M T

2011 2010
—z—— PP
HK$’000 HK$°000

T il T i 5%

14,567 113,241
(2,124) (185,641)

12,443 (72,400)

B E 3,580 -

Total assets B A

Total liabilities AR

Net assets (liabilities) B (A )

Group’s share of net assets of the associates 4= £ [ fE 45 B 42 /A &) 1)

Revenue e A

Loss for the year AN 5 1E

Group’s share of profit of the associates A 45 ] A1 B B AR A
for the year T )

Note:  During the year ended 31 March 2011, Taiwan CS has become
inactive and most of its assets and liabilities have been settled.
Therefore, a significant decrease in total assets and liabilities is
noted on the above summarised financial information.

The Group has discontinued recognition of its share of
loss of Taiwan CS. The amount of unrecognised share of
the associates, extracted from the relevant management
accounts of associates, both for the year and cumulatively,

are as follows:

Mgk : ®E_F-—HF=HA=1+t—HILFEE {HEE
FOMER > HAMOHERAMC WL T -
R DAL B 5 R B M B AR AR
K B o

AEEEKILERELEEEELINER -
i Bk 9 A B A A E IR B B R R
JRE A 5% Wk 7 N ) OB > AR R R Bt
BAE

Unrecognised share of loss of associates A A e R A W
for the year i 15

Accumulated unrecognised share of ZGT R R AL B A
loss of associates i 18

2011 2010
—e——x QRIS
HK$’000 HK$°000
Tt SR

plo
411

lh
24,509 24,509
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25.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
INVESTMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE_F——F=H=1T—HILEE

24. Wi B RE

Unlisted equity securities, at cost

I b T A W T (4 AR wH )

2011 2010
g« QEEESEEE
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tl 7 Tt T
15,038 11,625

The amounts represent investments in unlisted equity
securities issued by private entities. The Group holds
10% equity interest of one of the private entities which
is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. On 30
September 2010, D & M ceased as a subsidiary and
became an available-for-sale investment of the Group
upon the disposal of 85% equity interest in D & M.
Details are disclosed in notes 14 and 35(a). On the same
date, the fair value of the remaining 15% equity interests
in D & M held by the Group is estimated by the directors
to be approximately HK$3,413,000.

The equity securities do not have a quoted market price
in an active market and are stated at cost less impairment
at the end of the reporting period because the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that the
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the fair

value cannot be reliably measured.

LOAN RECEIVABLE

The balance was interest-free, unsecured and repayable
in December 2012.

A W NN E A i N
P45 o AN 4R T e A L A DR R B R &«
BE SRR AL 0 AL N ®10% 0 B HE - 1 —
E-FENHA=Z+TH > D&MAFEEAEH
FA) B A F) o ELS B 5% AR 0 D &
MAE 2 7 48 [ () — TR n] it B 3 o A B RE
5 7 Bt 5E14F035(a) 85 © AR — H 3 > i
i 51 A% 48 B AD & MAT 15 A 19k T 15% A% fi
1> e B {H 49 453,413,000 G ©

e A 5 25 A i R T 3 0 4 T S ik B
o H R 5 B A0 B AR > e S R
o B 2 Fo Ml R A OK R > A R
HR BT R A AMEME -

25. BEW Bk

R LR R KA HJE N —F — A
= HEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE_F——F=H=1T—HILFE

>
@8 26. TRADE RECEIVABLES 26. WE W W 3%
PJ 2011 2010
N e ]
HK$’000 HK$000
‘ > T#x T
2 ; Trade receivables JRE it B 7K 7,750
ey Less: Allowance for bad and doubtful debts — Ja : & 52 B # fhi (7,750)
The trade receivables as at 31 March 2010 were aged BE_Z-FHE=H=1T—HI > Bk
Over one year. KRB A — 4 o
E In determining the recoverability of the trade receivables, AE fEE 72 R WA HR K Y T g [ R R IR > A 4 [
the Group considers any changes in the credit quality of R EBRARTE R E RS H Z#)
% the trade receivables from the date credit was initially 5 H A T P AT A (5 SR R A2 ) o
@ granted up to the reporting date.
m During the year ended 31 March 2010, provision was BE_F-FF=ZA=ZT—HILFE K
made on a trade receivable balance of approximately JA A2 ) SRR R M SR IE A R B E R
m HK$7,750,000 as the directors of the Company A WSHR K A5 R R 9 A 497,750,000
considered that the recovery is not probable. This BT ZAamoRBE % —HF=1
balance was written off during the year ended 31 March =t — B LB -
m 2011.
Movement in the allowance for bad and TR B 52 )
doubtful debts
2011 2010
S —EF-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#t Tt
Balance at beginning of the year AE W) & R 7,750 46,715
Impairment losses recognised on receivables gt i 1 2K ffé 52 ol (B &5 18 - 7,750
Amounts written off as uncollectible T 6 77 A 1 i T ) 4 (7,750) (46,715)
Balance at end of the year R 4R 7,750
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE-_F——F="H=1T—HIEHEE

AMOUNT DUE FROM A 27. MEWE P LA
CUSTOMER FOR CONTRACT
WORK
2011 2010
R4 R R
HK$’000 HK$’000
F# T T IT
Contracts in progress at the end of the A B R AT AE AT Y
reporting period: 8
Contract costs incurred plus recognised £\ & 4= & &7 A N E il 58
profits Y A 634,535 460,117
Less: Progress billings W T B IR B (416,230) (416,230)
218,305 43,887

The amount is expected to be recovered within 12

months from the end of the reporting period.

INVENTORIES

T LR R B o R + A ik

Photovoltaic hardware and equipment
Cost A

Less: Allowance for obsolete inventories

SO AR BE 1 2 B

B
28. #H&
2011 2010
_ad CF
HK$’000 HK$°000
T # T T T
66,728 66,728
(66,728) (66,728)

I8 BRBEAT BB A

ce
I~
=
ey
=
>
al

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the management
of the Group held negotiations with a number of
potential customers for the sale of the inventories. None
of the negotiations were successful. The management of
the Group have concluded that it is not probable that
the inventories can be sold to other customers in the
foreseeable future. As such, an allowance for obsolete
inventories of HK$66,728,000 was provided for the year
ended 31 March 2010.

HEFZ-FFE=ZA=Z+—HILEE K
EEHEMEHE L ZEBEREF R ERF 8T
TIERS - (H 5 R AR IER 52 K o A48 1B 45 3 g
A8 &5 R R T RE I K AE T L Al ) HoAth K 5
PHEGE - WL REE T —FFE=H
= — H 1k 4wk R 8 A7 £ 1E 66,728,000
Tk L
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE_F——F=H=1T—HILFE

29. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND 29. % 4 ~ T AT ok I8 S i JRE W Ak

l OTHER RECEIVABLES
m 2011 2010
—z—— [EECE
‘ ! > HK$’000 HK$°000
Z Tt T
- Trade deposits (Note i) B 5wl 4 (I %) 23,938 23,938
Consideration receivable (Note ii) JE S A CBFF i) 10,075 =
Others H At 16,449 8,222
I Less: Allowance for bad and doubtful debts ¥ : 5 35 HE ¢ 5 (23,938) (23,938)
O 26,524 8,222
E Movement in the allowance for bad and A B 485 0 52 )
; doubtful debts
@ 2011 2010
e = =
m HK$’000 HK$'000
F J T# T T
: Z Balance at beginning of the year AE W) & R 23,938 379,000
Amounts written off as uncollectible TS 7 A 325 i Tl 1Y <6 B - (355,062)
Balance at end of the year AR 45 iR 23,938 23,938
Notes: Pt
(i) During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group paid trade (i) BEZZZAF=ZA=Z+—HILEE > &%
deposits of HK$23,938,000 to Taiwan CS, an associate of the M AERERL (REBN - RBEAE) LR
Group. 71 4223,938,000% JC °
As Taiwan CS has been loss making since it was incorporated, R B EEREHM IR —EEER > AL
the directors of the Company considered that the recovery CIE & N S TSRS R e i)
of the deposit paid to Taiwan CS was not probable. As such, o F > AEBMERBE_ZTENF=H
the Group recognised a full allowance for trade deposit of E=F—HIEFEENEGES ST ARANRE ST
HK$23,938,000 in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 4 1 2% B 523,938,000 7T ©
income in the year ended 31 March 2009.
(ii) Amount represents consideration receivable in relation to the (ii) i P A ety li R =B NS N A
disposal of 71% equity interest in Taiwan Terra Solar from an T1%8 HE 1Y 8 i A% 18 (1 7 5 B 3 35(a)) > 4
independent third party (please see note 35 (a) for details). The MESEAR - G B R ZAAE 4 H 180K A B %2 -

amount is unsecured, interest-free and is repayable within 180
days from the date at disposal.

30. AMOUNT DUE TO A 30. M 4 JB 3K 3k JH
SHAREHOLDER
The amount due was unsecured, interest-free and was W% E A 2K B A A G P~ G S H 2R R AR A B
fully repaid during the year. AL o
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HELD-FOR-TRADING
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE-_F——F="H=1T—HIEHEE

31, HIEHERE

INVESTMENTS
2011 2010
SR R A
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T T
Held for trading investments: FIEEE®RE -
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, D7 = K= R = N ol ]
at fair values NN 14,500 11,238
Equity securities listed outside Hong Kong, — PA 2 A8 (E 51 A9 JE F s L 1i7
at fair values & A 75 3,317 5,724
17,817 16,962

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group
and short-term fixed bank deposits with an original
maturity of three months or less. Bank balances carry
interest at prevailing market interest rates. The bank
deposits bear average interest of 0.01% (2010: 0.01% to

1.3%) per annum.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Details of the trade and other payables including ageing

analysis of trade payables, based on invoice date, are as

32. SRATH R MB &

SRAT 45 Bk I B 6005 AR AR R A B B & I
JRE B H A =W A sl BA A R R e SR T
fE 3 o SRAT A5 BRI BLAT T 85 A R 5H A o 8
TAF AR 10,01 JE (= F —F 4 : 001 E £
1.3J8) {4 F R 51 E -

33, JEASF e mk B H fib JRE A w5k 2

B A B K S L At B AT 3 I # 3 2R B B0 RE
1 (£ 475 Ao S 3 19 SR i 20 7) T °F

follows:

2011 2010
]
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# T

Trade payables JRE A R K
Over 360 days H 360 H 986
Deposits received from a customer EFEE & 10,850
Other payables and accrued charges At JE AT I K RE ST 2 13,412
25,248
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High-Tech Group Corporation Limited (“Stream Fund”) which
was also the major customer of the Company, for 600,000,000
shares at HK$0.136 per share was completed. These new shares
rank pari passu in all respects with the existing issued shares of
the Company.

(iii) On 4 March 2011, the Company allotted and issued
720,000,000 shares by way of share subscription at HK$0.114
per share to independent third parties. These new shares rank
pari passu in all respects with the existing issued shares of the
Company.

(iv) During the year ended 31 March 2011, a total of 600,000 and
2,000,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were issued
upon the exercise of share options and warrant subscription
rights, respectively.

Annual Report 2011 4F #

(iii)

(iv)

@) NoTEs To THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= N\ a
=l s oM ERE W
H For the year ended 31 March 2011
- BE-FT——F=A=+—HILFE
@S 34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. AR
A Number of
shares Amount
P e 4 W e
’000 HK$’000
T ik T ¥
Z Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 5 B T (E.0.01 HE 7T 18 3% % B
e .
Q Authorised: e
At 1 April 2009, 31 March 2010 and WZEEFJEMNH —H
FJ 31 March 2011 = EEZA=+—HK
O —EF ——F=A=+—H 100,000,000 1,000,000
I Issued and fully paid: 84T B A
At 1 April 2009 R_ETNEMA—H 4,372,000 43,720
>-4 Issued on 28 July 2009 A EFENELH T AH
(note i) AT (B 5ELD 2,186,000 21,860
< > Issued on 25 January 2010 AN B —-FE—H A H BT
: (note ii) (B 5Eii) 600,000 6,000
At 31 March 2010 MR_E—FHE=H=+—H 7,158,000 71,580
m Issued on 4 March 2011 (note iii) A E——F = H Y AT (M EEi) 720,000 7,200
Exercise of share options (note iv) A7 1 185 e AR (B ki) 600 6
Exercise of warrant subscription rights 47 {8 52 % 1 75 52 I 4
m (note iv) (B 5Eiv) 2,000 20
At 31 March 2011 B oE——F=H=+—H 7,880,600 78,806
Notes: P 5E -
(i) On 28 July 2009, the Company allotted and issued (i) W oEENAELA A+ /NH RN A T
2,186,000,000 shares by way of rights issue at a subscription 2 4% B R At 1% % 13 5% 1 15 0.08 6 I e %% X% ¥ 47
price of HK$0.08 per rights share on the basis of one rights 2,186,000,000 /1% i 17 » 5 ¥ £ & 67 45 15 A5 9 IR
share for every two shares then held. These new shares rank 3 T 4 — R AR AR I A o R AR R 4 A A& T
pari passu in all respects with the existing issued shares of the Yy BLAS N R B BB AT IR = A R R 4 o
Company.
(ii) On 25 January 2010, the share subscription by Stream Fund (ii) o FE-FE—H +RA > RGeS E

HIRAR (MY KR AAANR EBEZEF) L
B [ B 17 0.136 # T 78 fif 600,000,000 % ik 143 11 it
3 5B B A8 B 5T B > % 5 R IR 03 i 45 T 3 B AR
AT BA B BT RO = A R SRS o

WZE——4FE=ZHWMH » &2 " LG8 07
2 [ 48 57 565 = 5 4% 5 B I3 0. 11495 e i %% S 4%
AT 720,000,000 % A% 173 © % 55 7 & M 7S 45 7 1T 4
BRAR N R A BB AT B = A SR A o

WEF——FE=A =+ B IRFERE - R
HE % R B HE i O AT i - R R AT 49
{i2.0.01 ## 7T ¥ 3 ¥ % .600,000/8 2 2,000,000/
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE_F——F=H=1T—HILEE

35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 35. i HHE 2 W
(a) As referred in note 14, the Group discontinued its (a) PN B R 14T Ak o AR > AR [ HE )
operations regarding capital market and financing M7 2R = 7 B BT REA 1985%D & M
activities at the time of disposal of its 85% A RE 55 Ko 4 3 1 0 2 Al B s IR
equity interest in D & M and its entire interest BKIETHBEEAN S LERTEEHHN
in REXCAPITAL HK to independent third T o i H A N KR A R (At %
parties in current year. Eight other subsidiaries R JE 2 ) 1) 28 [R] 10 2 il o — fF 1L B o
(the “Other Subsidiaries”) were also disposed D & Mi & A48 £21,000,000% € » >
of with REXCAPITAL HK. The consideration EL SN PR =
for the disposal of D & M was HK$21,000,000 FRAE 2 1H O - AN B BRE AR 42 3 7
and the consideration for the disposal of By AT EB 4y W AR AE T I E Oy
REXCAPITAL HK and Other Subsidiaries was #1990,723,000%% T HY B 3R H 3K
HK$1 with assignment of shareholder’s loans of
approximately HK$990,723,000 at the time of
the disposal by the Group to the buyer as part of
the consideration for the disposal. %
On 10 January 2011, the Group entered into W_F——H—H+tH  AEHHR
another sale and purchase agreement with an — 2B = E L — W EE W
independent third party to dispose of its 71% % > 410,075,000 % JG [ A& A8 B A
equity interest in Taiwan Terra Solar for a B H BT R A B B 18O M K B BB T19% K
consideration of HK$10,075,000. HE o ﬁ
The net assets of D & M, REXCAPITAL HK, MRHEHH D&M HEME K
Other Subsidiaries and Taiwan Terra Solar at the il B S A W K & ¥ K b K B RE R &
dates of disposal were as follows: FEFENT b\
D&M REXCAPITAL Other Taiwan Terra
30 September HK Subsidiaries Solar
2010 3 January 2011 3 January 2011 10 January 2011 Total ul
D&M WhEE HMEAR  AEARABR
REZF—%4 REF——4 REF——4 KRB~k
AHZ+H —H=H —A=H —A+H i
HK$000 HK$'000 HK§000 HK$'000 HK$000
Tt i T T T
NET ASSETS (LIABILITIES) DISPOSED OF KR AR FELE
Property, plant and equipment WE - B Rt N N - 436 436
Other receivables o B FE 21780 50 - 18 Bl
Bank balances and cash RITHERRAE 149 800 11 268 1289
Tax recoverable W B 44 - - - 44
Trade and other payables G B R Ll HE A 0 (220) (25) (£,256) (989) (2,490)
Tax payable HEfI B » ~ (118) _ (118)
Net assets (liabilities) B (A FH 10,153 825 (1,362) - 20,216
Interest retained (Note a) R B4 ( ska) (3413) - - (4115) (1,528)
Cash consideration received Bl R &R E (21,000) - - - (21,000)
Consideration receivable (Note b) JE I A48 (2 b) - - - (10,075) (10073)
(Gain) loss on disposal B (M) (1,660) 815 (1,362) (14,190) (16,387)
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: R T A A R
Cash consideration received BB B & R E 21,000
Bank balances and cash disposed of LG e kAT (1L129)
19,711
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
ME_LX—— 4 =H =+ —HIEEE

35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Notes:

(a) The retained interest of 15% in D & M is accounted
for as an available-for-sale investment and disclosed
in note 24 and the retained interest of 29% in Taiwan
Terra Solar is accounted for as interest in an associate
and disclosed in note 23.

(b) The consideration is due within 180 days from the

disposal date of 71% equity interest in Taiwan Terra
Solar and is included as other receivable as disclosed
in note 29 as at 31 March 2011.

The impact of D & M and REXCAPITAL HK on
the Group’s results and cash flows is disclosed in
note 14.

The Other Subsidiaries and Taiwan Terra Solar
did not have any significant impact on the results
and cash flows of the Group for the year.

8 bt & 2 ¥ (ar)

f it

(a) D & M15%H1 £ B HE 4 E 51 A W] it s 45
& > P EE24 5 T & K K
5 i 29% ) £ B4 HE 25 FIl 51 A B & 2N ) B
it o B 5 R B EE23 o

(b) A K Hh K [ RE 71%)% A< HE 45 1
B & A RIS0OK AN EI ] > B FIA
Mtsk2ofr b M E T — —4F = A
= — B 1k A i AR -

D & MK 2% il 5 3 A< 45 [ 19 S 41 %
B i B R S B MY AR 1490 R -

LAt B8 2> W K K K R I
R A S T AR A Y 6 A OB TR
BEMEMEREE -

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group (b) BE_FZ—FTFE=H=+—HI14
disposed of Golden Chino Limited and Capital BE > 7 £ E] DL 5,200,000 % 7T 44 1845 H
View Investments Limited (the “Subsidiaries”) for #Golden Chino Limited & Capital View
a total consideration of HK$5,200,000. The net Investments Limited ([ Bff B A & 1) - &
assets of the Subsidiaries at the date of disposal 5 M8 2N | H R
were as follows: EinF :

31 August 2009
A 2 | R
NH=+—H
HK$000
Tt
NET ASSETS DISPOSED OF i 8 Y A
Held-for-trading investments FEERERE 1,718
Bank balances and cash SRAT 45 B B 4 1,680
Other payables At JRE A5 B 3K (4,258)
Net assets %R R 5,200
Total consideration AR 5,200
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: B T A A B A U AR -
Cash consideration 4 RE 5,200
Bank balances and cash disposed of B 1Y SRAT A i K BB (1,680)
3,520

The subsidiaries did not have any significant
impact on the results and cash flows of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2010.
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36.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
THE COMPANY

On 29 July 2002, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “2002 Scheme”). Under the 2002 Scheme,
the directors are authorised, at their discretion, to offer
eligible participants, being employees (whether full time or
part time), business consultants, agents, financial or legal
advisors whom the directors consider, in sole discretion,
have contributed to the Group, options to subscribe for
new shares of the Company. The directors are authorised
to determine the exercise price, such price will not be
less than the highest of (a) the closing price of the shares
as stated in the SEHK’s daily quotations on the date of
offer, which must be a business day; (b) the average of
the closing prices of the shares as stated in the SEHK’s
daily quotations for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of offer; and (c) the nominal value of
an ordinary share. There is no general requirement that an
option must be held for any minimum period before it can
be exercised but the directors are empowered to impose at
their discretion any requirements at the time of granting
any particular option. Upon acceptance of the option, the
grantee is required to pay a consideration of HK$1.00 for
each lot of share options granted on or before the 30 days
after the option is offered.

The period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option will be determined by the directors at
their discretion but will not be later than 10 years after
the date of adoption of the 2002 Scheme.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to
be issued upon exercise of the options granted under the
2002 Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company (including exercised and outstanding options)
to each of the eligible participants in any 12-month
period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
shares in issue as at the date of grant.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
2002 Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not exceed 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company on the date of approval and adoption
of the 2002 Scheme provided that the Company may at
any time seek approval from its shareholders to refresh
the limit to 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of
approval by the shareholders in general meeting where
such limit is refreshed.

36.

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE-_F——F="H=1T—HIEHEE

VL I > A58 4 el £
Y N/ |

MoFEEZHEELH HILH - AN AR
— TE MR (T B S E) - R
BT EGE ERERET RN
WEEREBERLHEARE A E R 2K
SR B - ER B AR B R
B [ 5 B A N B3 B R DA R R
N T R o HE IR 4% ME T E AT (R AE - M
W% [E S AAFARR ¢ () i 2 1 B R HE H
Wl (78 B8 3 H ) 721 sC T 45 B (8 R
B0 Wi T A 5 (b) B AR I R HE B 22 i
T 145 2 H OB A B 52 BT 45 H 3R A8 2R T 5
BT S5 T B 5 ()3 7 R T (B (DA I e 3
By E) o SIf I B I RE R 32 N JE R A I IR —
BB 7 W] AT M A — B E o Mk EE IR R Y
155 1A 152 AT o] B A AR e it o AT AT B 2 o A
T2 4 R BRF > R R N ZEUA 1 o B R HE H
R 5130 H Bk 2 Al 45 U A8 5% 1Y B i R
FATARAE 1.0085 IC o

TR AR N R R ZEL R B B 4 B BT BR - i
MERMGEEE MARERER _FTF
TAEFHEE B E 4 o

MRPE =% T ARG E Je AR 0% FAE A At B
e HE it B 1% T8 A A A A 2 B A R
(6L 45 C AT O B o A7 6 119 S B B ) 288 47 4 T
CRERATUBRTHRGEE REER
HOE AR T R A A AR 2R
B H B AT BRI 1% o

AR B8 — % % — 4 5t #) Je AR 2% FAE ] He At
B HE ) 452 B BT A S IS R AT o T AT
RE R AT 10 B BOH > B AN A5 AR 4 A
A HE K PR A T AR B A 8%
FT A B910% > MEAS 22 ®] A] P A A] I 46 555K
JF P TR o B B BR AR B AR o B B 4
BR A8 A BB SRR & H 2 3 AT B 9 10% ©
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36. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 36. VLI Ay 32 A0 w1 )
(Continued)

THE COMPANY (Continued) AN 0N w6 (47)

The movement of the share options granted by the MR = R ARG B AR A R B 0 R
Company under the 2002 Scheme are as follows: B U

Exercise price (Note i)

-
1)
=
=
—
9P
O
Z
-
—
o
e
>~
O
ad
)
4
)

7 e 8 (k)
Cancelled
Outstanding Adjusted duringthe  Outstanding Granted Exercised Cancelled ~ Transferred  Outstanding
Before After at on year ended at during the during the during the during the at
Current position Date of grant 24.7.2009 24.7.2009  Exercisable period 1.4.2009 24.7.2009 3132000 313.2010 year year year year 313.2011
REBELE ROFBAE REZENE ROZPAE ROZ-%E ROZ-%E =
LA LA WMA—H A EZAEt-R ZA=+-R
BB LA SHMAH CFNAR M WA “tNAAE  REERES ARG  RERRE RERGE RERGEE  RENEGE
HKS HKS (Note ) (Noteii) (Noteii) (Noteiv) (Noteii)
7 7 (k) (E3Ei) (W aEiii) (Hf&Eiv) (Wt aEi)
Employees 2262005 0.1660 01390 2072005 - 19.7.2015 1,000,000 194,000 B 1,194,000 - - - (1,194,000) B
[ “2%5F SERRELACHAE
AAZ+ZH “EZ-IELATAR
492007 05660 04740 3.10.2007-2.10.2017 19,700,000 3,637,500 (950000) 22,387,500 - - - 8358000 30745500
SRR SERLEHAZHE
AANA “E-LEHAZA
1342010 N/A 01870 284.2010-27.4.2020 - B B - 39500000 - - 300000 42,500,000
“2-%F A SE-ZENASHARE
mA+=H ZEZRENA=H LA
612011 N/A 0414 10.1.2011-9.1.2021 - - - - 63500000 - - 200000 65,500,000
“%——f AER SE——f-AtHE
—AXH ZF--E-ARA
Directors of the Company 25.11.2004 0.0880 00740 20.12.2004-19.12.2014 13,100,000 4481400 - 71581400 - - - - 2158140
KA ZRENE SEEMEFACHRE
T-AZ+EH ZZ-mEFZATAR
1262005 0.1660 0130 27.6.2005-266.2015 1,600,000 310400 - 1910400 - - - - 1910400
“ETRE SEFREAACTERE
AAZTZH ZE-REAAZTAR
1342010 N/A 01870 284.2010-27.4.2020 B B B B 3,500,000 - - - 3,500,000
“F-%F FER ZER-ZENAZHARE
mA+=H ZECZENAZTEA
6.12011 N/A 01414 10.1.2011-9.1.2021 - - - - 5,500,000 - - - 5,500,000
I TER “E—f—tHE
—AAA ZRZ-F-ARA
Consultants 22122003 0.1660 01340 112004112014 16,117,006 3,126,699 - 19,243,705 - - - - 19805
L] ot 2 4 3 ZEENE-A-HE
+=A=+=A ~Z-mE-A—-A
25.11.2004 00880 00740 20.12.2004-19.12.2014 13,100,000 4481400 - 381400 - - - - 2158140
“ZZME ZZEMETAZTRE
t—=AZ+5iH ZZ-WmELZA AR
2262005 0.1660 01390 20.7.2005-19.7.2015 99,000,000 19,206,000 - 118206000 - - - 1194000 119,400,000
e 232 ZERREFLACTHE
AAZ+ZH ZE-RELATAR
492007 05660 04740 3.102007-2.10.2017 326300000 63302200 - 389,602,000 - - - (8358000) 381,244,200
ZETLE SETLETAZAE
AAMA “Z-tE+HAZA
1342010 N/A 01870 284.2010-27.4.2020 B - - - 612500000 (600000)  (305000000)  (3000000) 303,900,000
ZE-%F FER ZE-FENAZHARE
mA+=H ZE-ZENA-HEA
6.12011 N/A 01414 10.12011-9.12021 B - - - 646500000 - - (2,000000) 644,500,000
e S TR SEE-AtRE
ARA ZZZ-F-ANR
Directors and employees 492007 05680 04740 3.10.2007-2.10.2017 30,000,000 5,820,000 - 358000 - - - - 35820000
of an associate
BEARESRER S2TLE “EFLEHAZHE
AAMA ZZ-tEHAZR
Exercisable at the end of the year 539917006 104559599 (950000) 643,526,605 1,371,000,000 (600,000) (305,000,000 - 108,926,605
SR BT
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36. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

(Continued)

THE COMPANY (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The number and the exercise price of options which remained
outstanding have been adjusted due to the completion of rights
issue as set out in note 34.

(ii) The exercise in full of the outstanding 1,708,926,605 (2010:
643,526,605) share options at 31 March 2011 would, under the
present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue
of 1,708,926,605 (2010: 643,526,605) additional shares of the
Company for a total cash consideration, before expenses, of

approximately HK$402,387,647 (2010: HK$281,531,136).

(iii) During the year ended 31 March 2011, 305,000,000 share
options granted to the respective consultants for introducing
Guangdong Rising Asset Management Company Limited
were cancelled after subsequent re-negotiation between the
Company and the consultants after the termination of the
subscription. The fair value of the share options cancelled
previously charged to profit or loss of HK$38,949,000 was
transferred from the share option reserve to accumulated losses
upon the cancellation.

(iv) Certain consultants were employed by the Group as employees
in the current year. An employee resigned in the current year
and acted as a consultant of the Group.

On 13 April 2010 and 6 January 2011, the
Group granted share options of 655,500,000 and
715,500,000 respectively. The estimated fair values are
HK$83,707,000 and HK$65,898,000 respectively. The
share options were vested immediately as at the date of

grant.

For the share options granted on 13 April 2010,
305,000,000 share options were cancelled during the
year due to the termination of services with certain

consultants. The estimated fair value of the remaining

350,500,000 share options is HK$44,758,000.

In respect of the share options exercised in the current
financial year, the weighted average share price of the
Company at the dates of exercise was HK$0.227 per

share.

NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
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36. VA A S A Bl B o)

. N/NENE )
Wi
() BB 345 0 PR 5 > B AT B R

S PR e 1 e AT M A A

(ii) RIEAN R BAT ARG - MR —F—— 4
=H =+ — B B BAT ¥ R AT 1,708,926,605
fy W R HE (= F — F 4 ¢ 643,526,605 ) 0 A
7N Al ZH 8% 47 1,708,926,605 I (— & — F 4
643,526,605 [ ) 7= 28 ] 1) B AN B4y o AR B 4 AR (E
(o 9 B BA S2) %9 £ 402,387,647 o (= & — &
4F 1 281,531,136 8) ©

(iii) BE-_F——H=ZA=+—HILFF ®HH
JBE SR TR B A A A PR T 4% T A R R
305,000,000 3 i i > B A A A\ K % 55
A A 11 R S TEL A B AR S R RE T AR R B o TR B
A 4E 15 B P S B 9 2 Fu {H (838,949,000 %5 JT i i
R 5 B9 4% E 9 IR £t 08 = ST 4R -

(iv) R AR E L AL AER - — 4
A B A 4 B B o 04 A A 42 T i LR -

W E—FENHA+=H kK FE——
AN H » 24 F 5 fl % 655,500,000 13 K&
715,500,00017 i B #E - il 512 o A8 (8 53 7l 25
83,707,000 %5 It /% 65,898,000 #5 G ° M Bt #EE 1
5% 5 H R R R o

AR O —FAEN H = H R
T e 7 o S T
#E $305,000,000 3 B #E S AF A GE 8 o iR
I 350,500,000 17 i ik HE B il 51 A o (E (E A
44,758, 0004 IC

WA A B A R AT (8 R B B RE T > R

T B AR 2% B 0 R - 29 B0 A8 4 4 1Be0.227
T -
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36.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
(Continued)

THE COMPANY (Continued)

Details of fair values of the share options determined
at the date of grant using the Binomial model with the

inputs are as follows:

13 April 6 January
Date of grant 2010 2011
Share price per share at
date of grant HK$0.187 HK$0.139
Exercise price per option HK$0.187  HK$0.1414
Option life 10 years 10 years
Expected volatility 137.96% 133.54%
Risk-free rate 2.824% 2.814%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0%

Expected volatility was determined by using historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the past 10

years.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair
value of the options. The variables and assumptions used
in computing fair values of the share options are based
on the directors’ best estimate. The value of an option
varies with difference variables of certain subjective

assumptions.

In current year, an amount of share-based payment
expenses in respect of the share options granted of
approximately HK$149,605,000 (2010: nil) has been
recognised in profit or loss, out of which HK$11,846,000
is included in staff costs and HK$137,759,000 is
included in consultancy expenses, with a corresponding
adjustment recognised in the Group’s share option
reserve. Also, upon cancellation of 305,000,000 share
options (2010: nil) during the year, the amount of
HK$38,949,000 which has been recognised in share

option reserve is transferred to accumulated losses.
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AN H] (A7)

T B A A R S R Y B e
o~ B AE S (BT AE) F

SR R
P H WA+ =H —H/NH
A =R ik
% 1B 0.187# 7T 0.139% 7T
13 W FREARE AT
i 15 0.187#C  0.1414% ¢
i F: HE 4 1 10 £ 104E
TE A i 1R 137.96% 133.54%
48 Jo\ oz ) % 2.824% 2.814%
TH B R R 0% 0%

TE I U AR R A A D B R A A AR 0 R
o 3R R E

W 0 0 G T IR R B £
S A I G T 190 5 T % AR
T LA o 0 B B B R0 o A HE B0
{0 PR T 1B B 22 T ) T ) -

A ASAE > % I A T DA B £ A L Al
A5 21 BH 52 49 149,605,0009 76 (& — 4
Fsor) Bt 4 P AERR > Hd > 11,846,000
# st A B TR 5 137,759,000 7t 5 A B
M BA S > AH R W R R A S ] R £ A
o RE o Ik Ak > #%305,000,000 4 (. F — &
A M) W TBCME A AT TR R S AR o I I BE e
5 v e B A 4 % 38,949,000 5 T i 35 & 2L Gt
e -



NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
(Continued)

THE COMPANY (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group
has granted 1,259,000,000 share options to certain
consultants, which vested immediately upon their
issuance. However, these share options were granted
by the Company without entering into formal service
agreements with these consultants. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, these share options were
granted to the consultants for rendering services to the
Group, including consultancy services in respect of
seeking potential investors to invest in the Company
and identification of potential investment opportunities
in the solar energy business. On 26 May 2010, certain
consultants successfully introduced a potential investor,
Guangdong Rising Asset Management Company
Limited to subscribe for 2,180,232,558 new shares of the
Company. Although this subscription was terminated
on 26 November 2010, the directors of the Company
continue to believe that the strategy to issue share
options in return of consultancy services can bring
benefits to the Group, without damaging the Group’s
operating cash flows and liquidity.

The Group has determined the fair value of the share
options at the dates of grant of HK$137,759,000 and
charged the full amount to profit or loss and included
as consultancy expenses in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income. During the year ended 31
March 2011, 305,000,000 share options granted to the
respective consultants for introducing Guangdong Rising
Asset Management Company Limited were cancelled
as a result of subsequent re-negotiation between the
Company and the consultants after the termination
of the subscription. The fair value of the share options
cancelled previously charged to profit or loss of
HK$38,949,000 was transferred from the share option

reserve to accumulated losses upon the cancellation.

o Wl B W % W s

For the year ended 31 March 2011
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36. VA A S A Bl B o)

AN H] (A7)

BE_ZF—-—FH£="A=+—HIEFEF &
A5 | 1) 7 T R R B2 4 1,259,000,000 4 i
HE > ZE RN BT R L ERE - A&
MM > A8 S\ A6 3%t aZ% 55 T I RE A > 3l R B
7% 55 B M RT o0 0E MRS Wk o A E
R W E BT T R E R s L
W% S5 IR A A 42 [ R R 0 IR o AL EE S IR
T AE B G G AN 7 K W) 6ok T RE R 2
BHhHHNBEREHKS R _-F-FFH
HZ+NH > ETHBRONBEERE
EoFERAEREEKSARA AR A
75 7 2,180,232,558 1% 8 JBE 1 o 18k L 5B M
HR FE—FE+—H T AH&KIE A
7> ) AR R AT DA EEAT I e 4 IR R IR
T R WG o BT R B R AR AR [ ) RS B &
T SR &R DR o 2 A 4R AR R
i 35 e

74 B e R 2 A R B Y A A
St 18 £ 137,759,000 5T - 37 it 18 25 1R S
B A2 B T S A A T WA 3R B 5 TR B S o
BE-ZE——HE=A=+—HILFEE RN
R R B E R A R A E R T
A B [#1305,000,000 17 i B 4 - B R AR A
R % A5 R B0 ¢ 1k R N S TE A B 1R R A
I G &1 o JR G 4B 25 BR b S B A R qE
{H38,949,000 %5 T I [ 4 A 5k &5 1% £ 1 % i
b g = B 5t -
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36.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
(Continued)

SUBSIDIARY

On 31 December 2005, TSG, a subsidiary of the
Company, implemented a share option scheme (the “2005
Scheme”). Under the 2005 Scheme, TSG’s directors (the
“TSG directors”) are authorised to offer share options of
TSG to eligible participants, being directors, officers and
other employees of TSG as well as consultants of TSG
and its subsidiaries, with a vesting period from one to

three years.

The TSG directors are authorised to determine the
exercise price per share. Such price shall not be less than
(i) 110% of the fair market value per share on the date of
grant if the options are granted to employees as defined
under 2005 Scheme and at the time of grant of the
options, the employee owns more than 10% of the voting
power of all classes of shares of TSG or any parent or
subsidiary; or (ii) the fair market value per share on the

date of grant for cases other than that described in (i).

The period within which the shares must be taken
up under an option will be determined by the TSG
directors, but not more than 5 or 10 years from the date
of grant, depending on the situations as described in
the 2005 Scheme. The options granted under the 2005
Scheme shall be exercisable upon its having vested in
accordance with the vesting schedule and upon and after

the registration date.

The aggregate number of shares which may be issued
pursuant to the 2005 Scheme is 1,500. If any option
granted under the 2005 Scheme shall expire or terminate
for any reason without having been exercised in full
or shall cease for any reason to be exercisable in whole
or in part, or if TSG shall reacquire any option, the
unpurchased shares subject to such options shall again be
available for grants of options under the 2005 Scheme.
The maximum aggregate number of shares of TSG that
may be granted in the form of share options in any one

fiscal year to an eligible participant shall be 1,000 shares.
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Pt & 2> W

MR-EEREE+F+_A=Z+—H  AXFAH
Wi J8 2> FITSGH fth — JEL W I Rt ) ([ — %%
TAERHE]) - R _FF RG> TSG
i % & ([TSGE & |) J 43 HE 1% tH TSGHY i i
T HE®SINE > BITSGH # 3 ~ = K
B R H A8 > LR TSGR H K& 2+ 7 i
M B P — = =4 o

TSGHE = 1 1% HE fi & 45 B B 05 10 A7 (A >
P (i) il 5 PG B T 33 T AR BE B AR R
EFRMAE B - 1A B R B 76 2 % I % HE I
WA TSGR H & A & sk [ B A = it
AR R 13 4 R HE10% > A B R4S A BB A
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H & B A i (E e

JEU AR 482 B O ARE 7R 8 i 4 9 ) PR PR TSG 8 24 8
TE o MER PR F AR EE B A iR L
A% B A 15 2 10 5 4F 50104 « MR ¥R 5
J& WE & > LA R R REM A R AR - T F
AR B 45 b S PR S B A% T AT

MR PE — 2 AR 51 B AT B B AT 0 B AR B
£ 1,500 % o i 4% — F F hAR G E 4 0 AT
o] S AR 30 R 2 sk > B DR AT T i A A&k T
IR AT - m AT A A f A A S R
o 5 RS REAT E > BRAMTSGH B ] 4T fa]
JBEHE 5 A B RE T VB I 1 R B A I £
A3 BT ARG B AR R A e
A AT AT — {1 B4 B4 BE AT DA B B HE R 4% T
A& K200 ITSGH {73 48 B 5 5 41,000
Hﬁ °



36. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

NoOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o Wl B W % W s

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE_F——F=H=1T—HILEE

36. VA A S A Bl B o)

(Continued)
SUBSIDIARY (Continued) [} & 2\ |l (42)
The share options granted under the 2005 Scheme are as Fi B =R R AR GHE 2 A R RE AN
follows:
2011 and 2010
—E——ER-2—%3F
Weighted average
Number exercise price
BWH mhEF AT
HK$
T
Outstanding A AT A 646 6,154

As at 31 March 2011 and 2010, there was no
unrecognised compensation cost related to share options
granted under 2005 Scheme and all outstanding share
options are exercisable. The outstanding share options as
at 31 March 2011 are exercisable from the date of vesting
to 31 December 2015.

No share option was granted for both years.

REF R T -FFE=A=1+—H>
A4 [ 3l 4 BRLAR ¥R — F F AAE T R
S P HHE A T ) R R A AR o T BT A G
RAT 8 B B P HEE 3 A AT AT o B BR R H
E_F-HAFE+_A=Z=+—H1L R=F
—— =1 =t B RAT O A W HE S
AL AT

8 18] 4F J52 AR S 4% L) T RO o
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37.

38.

OPERATING LEASE 37. R ERKE
COMMITMENTS
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had WEREHIOR s ALEEMBEABREEYE
commitments for future minimum lease payments in T HoAth & 7 19 e AR AL & B TE R I8 19 B A
respect of rented premises and other assets which fall due W
as follows:
2011 2010
] - ==
HK$’000 HK$000
T8 T
Within one year — 4K 861 718
In the second to fifth year inclusive BRI (HEE RWAA) 222 543
Over five years R A A - 22
1,343
Operating lease payments for the current year represent AAEER ST E R EIE A EE S E A E
rentals payable by the Group for its office premises and MEKREMEEBMOMEE > mEEZFE
other assets whereas the operating lease payments for last HHERAZSYWEERNNEEMER - HE
year included the lease of its office premises. The lease T AW E (S —FE D W) A
is signed an average term of two years (2010: two years), [ n] 228 42 5 B B H A8 5T FH 4 M EE R 6E TR K
with an option to renew the lease and renegotiate the o A Bl A T 5 AF o] 5 A A 4 o
terms at the expiry date. The lease does not include any
contingent rentals.
MAJOR NON-CASH 38. ERFEBLERS

TRANSACTION

As disclosed in note 35(a), the consideration for the
disposal of 71% equity interest in Taiwan Terra Solar of
HK$10,075,000 has not been received and is included in
other receivable as at 31 March 2011.

Part of the consideration for the acquisition of the
available-for-sale investment of HK$7,944,000 has not
been paid and is included in other payable as at 31 March
2010. The amount was fully paid during the year ended
31 March 2011.
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AN B E35(a) BT 4 2R o B A B OK K B
HE 71%/8 4 HE 72 19 £% 18 10,075,000 # 7T i A
B - AR EBE AR & —~ 4=
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TS A5 s = 1 R 2 £ £7,944,000
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EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Pursuant to the announcement dated 2 February 2011,
the Company entered into an acquisition agreement
(the “Acquisition Agreement”) with Mr. Yeung and two
independent third parties in relation to the purchase of
the entire issued share capital of Stream Fund and its
subsidiaries (the “Target Group”), at a total consideration
of HK$350,000,000 (the “Acquisition”). According to
the Acquisition Agreement, the consideration will be
satisfied as to (i) HK$309,258,000 by way of issuance of
shares and (ii) the remaining balance of HK$40,742,000
by way of issuance of convertible notes. The Acquisition

was completed on 15 April 2011.

The directors are of the view that the Acquisition
represents a valuable opportunity to the Group to extend
its business from a total solution provider of thin film
production equipment and a supplier of vetrogrid for
building integrated photovoltaics (“BIPV”) systems to
production of thin film solar modules as well as design,
fabrication and installation of thin-film BIPV system.
Moreover, the Acquisition is expected to create synergy
between the Target Group’s business and the Group’s
existing business as well as accelerate the Group’s
intended business developments in the photovoltaic

industry.

The Company is in the process of ascertaining the
fair value of the net assets of the subsidiaries acquired
in the Acquisition that include monetary and non-
monetary assets and liabilities and the fair value of the
convertible notes issued as part of the consideration for
the Acquisition, and is not yet in a position to disclose
the finalised consolidated financial information of the
Target Group completed on 15 April 2011 as at the date
these consolidated financial statements were authorised

for issue.

Mr. Yeung was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 28 March 2011. As such, the transaction is
considered as a connected transaction.

39.

For the year ended 31 March 2011
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e & 1 1% FIH

WMER _—_E——F A _HHBEHAE
AR ) B S A K 5 A TR 4 M8 5L AR = HT
SE— 0 Wi B R (T U B i k) - WA A #
DA A8 AR 4 350,000,000 #5 J6 B A U W5 K H
Jog s\ (1B A4 E ) 2350 2 8847 B A ([
WD) o HR R A% W B Wk o ARAES DL TR
K 32 AF(i) 309,258,000% Je 5 48 18 5 47 A% 0 %
7> Je(ii)8 R # 40,742,000 %5 7 4% LA 38 17 1]
B AR R A - I REIHO R &
——4EPH +H H SR e

HERS  WHREHAAEENEERS -
AL A G A E AR S R R
4t JRE 7 K Vetrogridot: 7 @2 5E — i {k ([BIPV )
A AL RE RS o fE M AR A K [ RE A AR A
DA R % wt > AR T 4 FCBIPVI I R AT o It
Ab o A S JE W] 4 B OB AR T SE R LR
o |l B TS R R 1 R RLRE o DA R AR AR
AR B A 6 ARAT E 1Y HE 8 SE TS B o

AR ) AT A RS A U T s A
AAEEFHEFHEREE  FEWEE
LA a8 E - LR AR B i 20 i AR
3K VLT 3% A7 19 AT 4 B SR PR A R (E (E
MR fE B —%F — — WA +H B (B
RHETI R 2SR a B IR 2 H) SERM E
AR M R ARG B E R

MAEER -F—-—F=A-+\HEZ
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40. RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group had transactions with related

parties as follows:

40. BIEAN LS

N ARG E B BN LR g LT RS

2011 2010
g [P
HK$’000 HK$°000
T# T
Interest expense (Note a) B BA 32 (B 5Ea) 286
Operating lease charges in respect of office  H¥/\ = ¥ 25 1) 48 %5 & BH 2
premises (Note b) (B D) 1,678
Interest income (Note c¢) FE U A (B EEc) (864)
Notes: fff 5E
(a) During the year ended 31 March 2010, an interest expense of (a) BEZ-FHE="A=+—HILEEHH > &

HK$286,000 was charged by a shareholder of the Company in
relation to a shareholder’s loan of HK$14,000,000 granted to
the Company.

(b) During the year, operating lease payments of HK$1,678,000
(2010: HK$1,678,000) in respect of leases of office premises
were charged by companies in which a director of a subsidiary of
the Company has a beneficial interest.

(c) Interest income of HK$864,000 was received from a related
company, in which a director of a subsidiary of the Company has
an equity interest, for a loan advanced to the related company
during the year ended 31 March 2010. The loan advanced to
the related company has been repaid during the year ended 31
March 2010.

(d) On 16 February 2011, the Group entered into a supplemental
sales agreement with the sole customer of the Group and Mr.
Yeung, who was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 28 March 2011 and was a substantial shareholder
as at 31 March 2011, for the remaining contract work to be
transferred from that sole customer to Mr. Yeung. The sole
customer is wholly owned by Mr. Yeung. As at 31 March 2011,
the amount of contract work due from Mr. Yeung Ngo was

HK$218,305,000 (2010: nil).

The key management personnel of the Group is the
directors and details of the directors’ emoluments are
disclosed in note 16. Details of the share options of
the Company granted to the directors are disclosed in
note 36.
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48 8 3t — TR T 45 4 w19 14,000,000 5 76 1% 3R &
) AR 2 T — 44 SR S A AL BE 52 286,000 %
fE o

(b) FR > ANFA—FKMBARMN — A EFREALE
o M 25 10 2N TR MRS 4 S R IR M BOAR E AR &
1,678,000% ¢ (=& —F4F : 1,678,000% 7T) °

(c) BE-FZ-ZTHE=A=+—HILFEE A%&H
1] — 58 [ 2 2 ) AR A — 2B B ORI B 4
7 22 2 7 Y A B i A 864,000 T (A A Rl — K
WhFJE8 2 w1 ) — 4% 3 S B AT o2 B N W B ) -
BEZZ-ZHE=ZA=FT—HILEE > BEL
LR A R A A B

(d) REoF——HF A +RE - AEEEAEEY
ME—HERMELER F——F=A =+ A
HEZER/AAFAPTES > LR —F——4F
=R = H O BOR) §T AL — 0 R
B Bk o RAR X 0wk o 8RR A0 A0 E AR il % E
—HF R TMEL E—FF LY
HH - BE_ZF——4F=A=1+—H, WEIIMW
i S 2k %9 78 T AF 3K 45 218,305,000 78 (-
T ) o

AR EREMAE B AW
R L W L6 5 - A B A 2 AR T
o 0 79 R 3685 -
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41. RETIREMENT BENEFITS
SCHEMES

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme
(the “Scheme”) for all qualifying employees of the Group
in Hong Kong. The Group contributes 5% of relevant
payroll costs to the Scheme, which contribution is
matched by the employee. The maximum amount of
contribution is limited to HK$1,000 per employee. The
assets of the Scheme are held separately from those of the

Group, in funds under the control of the trustees.

There are retirement plans established in the USA for
all domestic employees who meet certain eligibility

requirements as to age and length of services.

The retirement benefits cost charged to profit or loss
of approximately HK$324,000 (2010: HK$558,000)
represents contributions payable to the schemes by
the Group at rates specified in the rules of the various

schemes.
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41. 38 ok 5 A G

AR T J A W T S B AR R BB R
AT w8 (TR ) o A5 J ) 5t &) 1
A B Hr & BA S 5%R ik Bk o TR B A A
SERALER o K B IR 2 45 4 B 1,000 7T -
REEIREE 2t AR EE A
Slf7 B AR 45 F 1Y) EE O3 B

S 52 I B R AT 5 B AR B RE (9 A i % iR
B AR B BT A H LR B A A IR R
SRR #

T 18 2 B P S8 Y B PR AR A 2 #9324,000
W (ZF —F 4 ¢ 558,000 7T) T A 4 H
e 4% JE G )AL A B RE bl < i T R A R
kK -

42. A v W& 4 R B E

Percentage of issued capital Principal activity and
held by the Company

place operations

A0 FR A R AT A
Fi 5 b R B

2010

s

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY
Percentage of
Place of issued share
Name incorporation capital
O AT R A
E2y i GRS AUE BENEPi g
REXCAPITAL Group  British Virgin 1 ordinary share
Limited # Islands of US$1
PR LR IR AR R
1370
Eaglefly Technology British Virgin 1 ordinary share
Limited Islands of US$1
PR LR RS AR R
IS

100% Investment holding in
Hong Kong
T S B

100% Investment holding in
Hong Kong
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H For the year ended 31 March 2011
e BE_F——F=H=1T—HILFE
@»8 42. PARTICULARS OF 42. Ao v B R 4 v B A )
l SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)
m Percentage of
‘ } Place of issued share Percentage of issued capital Principal activity and
Name incorporation capital held by the Company  place operations
Z O 17 RA AT FAEBETRA
- %% BRI AALE TNl Ak EE S YT+ 31F ]
2010
Q R EE
China Solar Energy Hong Kong 1 ordinary share 100% Development and
O Group Limited U of HK$1 manufacturing of solar
1R 3 7 i 1 modules and panels
E 15 oK B B 6L 1 5 A
B % % A
Add Result Holdings British Virgin 1 ordinary share 100% Investment holding in
( > Limited Islands of US$1 Hong Kong
m W LR R RS R K B ERE R
17T
China Solar Energy Hong Kong 1 ordinary share 100% Inactive
2 ; Development Limited 7 i of HK$1 JE 5
m 15 5 8 i 5 e
1T
REXCAPITAL (Hong  Hong Kong 10,000,000 100% Provision of investment
Kong) Limited # & ordinary shares advisory services in
) 2% F () of HK$1 each Hong Kong
ARATF 10,000,000 % A S 4t 5 R
78 I i IR #5
¥ 0
REXCAPITAL Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares 100% Provision of management
Enterprises Limited # 7 i of HK$1 each services in Hong Kong
1l 78 b 26 A R A = 2 JB 3 A A 7 7 4 A PR 5
L T
D & M Finance Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares 100% Money lending in Hong
Limited # 75wk of HK$1 each Kong
2 3 3 R A 4R A R



42. PARTICULARS OF

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)
Percentage of
Place of issued share
Name incorporation capital
BRIy &N
ER REMEROLHLEE AL
REXCAPITAL Hong Kong 1 ordinary share
International Holdings 7 #% of HK$1
Limited 1% % 28 i 19 i
10 2 1o ¢ 42 JBE 17T
A BRA
China Solar Energy Macau 25,000 ordinary
(Macau) Limited S| share of Macau
Pataca 1 each
25,000 e ¥ 7 e
(Y SR NLBTH
REXCAPITAL British Virgin 1 ordinary share
Technology Limited # Islands of US$1
BEJE IR LR RS R
137t
REXCAPITAL Financial British Virgin 1 ordinary share
Services Limited # Islands of US$1
B LS 1R R
137t
REXCAPITAL Strategic British Virgin 1 ordinary share
Investments Limited #  Islands of US$1
WF R L BES 1RE  )
1%
REXCAPITAL British Virgin 1 ordinary share
Management Limited #  Islands of US$1
BEFE LR RS R
1370
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42. A2 W W& 2 6 B wE G )

Percentage of issued capital Principal activity and
held by the Company
A O BT IRA
ERiaA

place operations

EX P S 3 E
2010

s

100% Inactive

I 1

100%

Inactive

I

100% Investment holding in

Hong Kong
T BOE B

100% Investment holding in

Hong Kong
AR B RE R

100% Investment holding in

Hong Kong
A BOE B

100% Investment holding in

Hong Kong
B RE R
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42. PARTICULARS OF
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Name

1

Place of

incorporation

sk W 37 i

Percentage of
issued share
capital

O 17 RA
[ d:a

Twin Star Agents
Limited #

REXCAPITAL

Secretarial Services

Limited #
10 2% Al 5 A 5
H R dl#

Terra Solar Global, Inc.
3 |8 K b K 95 g A

Terra Solar North

America, Inc.

Taiwan Terra Solar ###

£ 1 K il oK B s
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British Virgin
Islands
U IR R

Hong Kong
ERE

United States of

America

ESY

United States of

America

ES]

Taiwan
f

1 ordinary share
of US$1

1% % 78 i 19 i
137

2 ordinary shares
of HK$1 each

2 JB K % B
1% 7T

10,000 ordinary
shares of
US$0.01 each

10,000 /% & 7 fii
J§0.013% 7C

200 ordinary
shares, no par
value

200 B 48 T8 i
S wiibiie

100,000 ordinary
shares of
Taiwan dollars
10 each

100,000 % 34 48 %

104

held by the Company
A HA CBRTIRA
ERiA
2010
—z %

42. A2 W W& 2 6 B wE G )

Percentage of issued capital Principal activity and

place operations

EX-E 37 Y- ¢ 31 ]

100%

100%

68%

68%

100%

Holding nominees shares
for the Group in Hong
Kong

MALEBREEREA R
N & Ay

Provision of secretarial

services in Hong Kong

TR A s £ A3 B o R s

Investment holding in the
United States

R 5% B9 it 2 B0 42

Licensing of patent rights
in the United States

A S5 B A g 0 5 2R HE
il

Development and
manufacturing of glass
used in solar products

K K BB E i B B B Y
B % % A
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42. PARTICULARS OF 42. A w) B & A )RR o)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)
Percentage of
Place of issued share Percentage of issued capital Principal activity and
Name incorporation capital held by the Company  place operations G
O A7 R A AT FAEBETRA
%% ERIAALE TNl iR d:a ERE 3 YT 31F Iy
N
2010
- v
e
HETELNEGRIL PRC 100,000 ordinary 100% Inactive %
A RA Fle 2 shares of I 1
US$1 each
(2010: Not yet
incorporated)
100,000 i £ 7 ik
1% (= ﬁf
T
Novel Power Limited British Virgin 1 ordinary share 100% Investment holding in
Islands of US$1 Hong Kong
SRR LCREE L A A A T 1 B $§~
1%t f
# The subsidiaries were disposed of during the year ended 31 # BE-EZ—-—F=H=1+—HILFEHH & ul
March 2011. B JEg A W) o
== it 5 T 42 Hl F BB VR A B s a limited liability company o i 7 T 2 B B AR IR A PR A F] 4y — [ LA Ab R R
registered in the PRC in the form of wholly foreign owned A FETE 2O i B A PR A Rk A
enterprise. The total registered capital is US$100,000. H8%H /%100,000% TG ©
= On 10 January 2011, TSG disposed its 71% equity interest #HH W E——4F—H -+ H > TSGH H R & 8 K i
in Taiwan Terra Solar to an independent third party. Since KIGREMIT1%RMEL & TR LB =T - B -
then, Taiwan Terra Solar has changed from a subsidiary to an =R PN N AN AL LYY - /NI
associate.
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at T A R SR TN AT AT IRE 1] > AT A Rl
the end of the year or at any time during the year. PEAT A A 76 5 -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

M % aE

Year ended 31 March
HE=ZH=+—HIL4EE
2010 2009 2008 2007

SR -BE CREAE CRRAE CRRLE
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
SREl Tt T Tisn T

-
1)
=
=
—
9P
O
Z
-
—_
o
e
>~
O
ad
)
4
)

RESULTS ES
Revenue PN 174,658 462,001 18,475 97,668 41,123
Loss before taxation % Bi 1l s 48 (198,820) (96,031) (47,624) (215,323) (17,007)
Tax (expense) credit BiFS (2 ) 4% - (44) 1,130 (996) (431)
Loss for the year A A s R (198,820) (96,075) (46,494) (216,319) (17,438)
Loss attributable to: FHIA L EAL G
Owners of the Company N I 5 (197,104) (92,182) (44,383) (215,125) (14,581)

Non-controlling interests IF 32 5 4 2% (1,716) (3,893) (2,111) (1,194) (2,857)

(198,820) (96,075) (46,494) (216,319) (17,438)

ASSETS AND R fUE

LIABILITIES
Property, plant and equipment ¥ 2 ~ k5 M sk A 224 330 533 752 905
Intangible assets Y & 67,943 82,001 96,059 110,117 124,175
Goodwill T 36,592 36,592 36,592 17,213 =
Net current assets it B E I 344,624 304,718 117,078 143,145 210,251
Interests in associates i W 5 s ] 1 RE 4 3,850 = = 6,738 =
Amount due from the majority  JE it — 44 ¥ %% 4 7

shareholder of an associate NS ] - 5911 16,517 -
Available-for-sale investments  AJ fit H £ # & 11,625 = = 7,750
Other receivables A 1 UK TR = = 10,062 =
Net assets B 468,271 435,266 256,173 304,544 343,081
Share capital N 78,806 71,580 43,720 43,720 38,749
Reserves it i 389,577 362,082 206,956 251,339 291,864
Equity attributable to equity A% > ] SR A

owners of the Company HE 25 468,383 433,662 250,676 295,059 330,613
Share option reserve of — [ B JB 2 W) Y

a subsidiary Vi e ot 977 977 977 977 604
Non-controlling interests IF P B HE %5 (1,089) 627 4,520 8,508 11,864
Total equity 4R 3 468,271 435,266 256,173 304,544 343,081
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